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Section 1 - Strategic Report
and Directors’ Report



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

The dlrectors present their strategic report on the Group and Company for the year ended 31 December
2014

Results for the year
- The results of the Group are set out in the consohdated income statement on page 12 which shows a
profit from continuing operations before taxation for the year of €354.1 million (2013: €3.9 million).

Review of business developments
During 2014 the Group has continued to expand and develop its portfolio of businesses.

On 1 October 2014 the Group acquired the Grangemouth Combined Heat and Power ('CHP') business
from Fortum for & consideration of €69.6 million. Grangemouth CHP is a natural gas fired combined
heat and power plant located at the Grangemouth petrochemical site in Scotland. The plant will
prov1de electricity and steam to Ineos petrochemical operations.

On 17 November 2014 the Group a'cquired the remaining 50% of the shares in Styrolution Holding
GmbH for a consideration of €1,108.7 million from BASF SE. The Styrolution business was founded
in October 2011 as a 50/50 joint venture with BASF, and is the leading global styrenics supplier.
Styrolutlon provides styrenic applications for many everyday products across a broad range of
industries including automotive, electronics, household, construction, healthcare and toys. It employs
approximately 3,200 people and operates 17 production facilities in ten countries. The acquisition was
financed by a Senior Secured Term Loan of approximately €1,050 million issued by Styrolution,
together with a €200 million PIK Toggle Loan from INEOS Holdings Limited, a related party. The
Group will look to integrate the operations of the ABS US business with Styrolution during 2015.

The ABS US, Styrenics EPS, Chlorotoluenes and Melamines businesses have continued to perform
satisfactorily during the yéar. INEOS Bio has continued to develop a commercial scale bio energy

facility in Vero Beach, Florida. The Bio business has made further operational progress during the

year, and is moving towards a stable operational performance.

The Group's strategy is to develop its portfolio of businesses further with its main focus on the
styrenics segment of petrochemicals and the upstream businesses in the North Sea

Principal risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the Group’s strategy are subject to a number of
risks. The key business risks affecting the Group are set out below:

e  The petrochemical industries are cyclical — changing market demands and prlces may
negatively affect the Group’s operating margins and impair its cash flow which, in turn, could
affect its ability to make payments on its debt or to make further investments in the business.

e Raw matenals and suppliers — if the Group is unable to pass on increases in raw material
prices, or to retain or replace its key suppliers, its results of operations may be negatlvely
affected.

o International operations and currency fluctuations — the Group is exposed to currency
fluctuation risks as well as to economic downturns and local business risks in several different
countries that could adversely affect its profitability.

e Competition — significant competition in the Group’s industries, whether through efforts of
new and current competitors or through consolidation of existing customers, may adversely
affect its competitive position, sales and overall operations.

e [Inability to maximize utilization of assets — the Group may be adversely affected if it is
unable to implement its strategy to maximize utilization of assets.



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

e  Synergies — the Group may not realize anticipated revenue and cost synergies, benefit from
anticipated business opportunities or experience anticipated growth from any of its

acquisitions.

e Substantial leverage — if interest rates rise or trading performance deteriorates the Group's
substantial debt burden increases the risk for the Group's position and performance.

Key performance indicators

The main KPI of the business is earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and
exceptional items ("EBITDA"). Management closely monitors EBITDA compared to budget and prior
year. Details of actual and comparative EBITDA results are provided below:

Operating 10Ss........ccccoevvvenneennen.

Depreciation charge for the year.....
Amortisation charge for the year.....
Exceptional administrative expenses
EBITDA

On behalf of the Board:

G Leask
Director
20 November 2015

2014 2013
€m
(49.3) (36.7)
39.1 11.8
16.6 0.6
25.8 26.6
32.2 23




DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

The directors present their report and audited consolidated and company financial statements of the
Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2014.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of a range of chemicals used in a
variety of applications.

Financial risk management

The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of changes in
price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group has in place a risk management
programme that seeks to limit the adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group where
appropriate. The Group is exposed to commodity price risk as a result of its operations and seeks to
mitigate this risk through various purchasing strategies. The Group manages its credit exposures with a
set of policies for ongoing credit checks on potential and current customers or counterparties. See Note
22 of the financial statements for information on financial instruments, interest risk, liquidity risk and
foreign currency risk.

Future developments
t

On 11 October 2015 the Group agreed to acquire the UK North Sea natural gas assets of DEA
Deutsche Erdoel AG, which is part of the LetterOne Group. The acquisition is subject to clearance
with the relevant competition authorities. This acquisition represents the initial stage of the Group
expanding its interests in assets in the UK North Sea.

Research-and development

‘The Group’s research and development team develops new applications for its higher margin and less
cyclical speciality chemicals, provides support to the Group’s customers and seeks to improve the
efficiency of the Group’s manufacturing processes. The research-and development team also Ieads the
Group’s efforts with respect to the development and capacity expansions of the plants and maintaining
and improving safety and environmental standards. The Group spent approximately €7.2 million
(2013: €4.0 million) on research and development during the year.

Proposed dividend

The directors of the Company have proposed and paid a dividend of €4.0 million (20.19 per share)
during the year (2013: €nil). .

Political and charitable contributions'

As part of its ongoing investment programme, INEOS Industries Limited and its subsidiaries actively
support a variety of initiatives in communities in which it operates. Charitable donations made during
the year amounted to €nil (2013: €5,000) for a variety of charitable purposes. Neither the Company
nor its subsidiary undertakings made any donations or subscriptions for political purposes.
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Directors

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing of the financial statements
were as follows:

Mr G Leask
Mr J Dawson (resigned 1 September 2014)
Mr J Ginns

Employees

The Group has developed voluntary practices and procedures for employee involvement appropriate to
their own circumstances and needs. The Group encourages this approach to provide information and
consultation and believes that this promotes a better understanding of the issues facing the individual
business in which the employee works. The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its
employees and keeps them informed on matters affecting them as employees and on the various factors
affecting the performance of the Group by issuing communications on the Group intranet and holding
employee information meetings hosted by the board and operating a bonus scheme linked to the
business performance. The Group consults employees or their representatives through the works
council on a regular basis so that the views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions
that are likely to affect their interests. '

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the
requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled by a handicapped or disabled person. Where
existing employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy wherever practicable to provide
continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career
development and promotion wherever appropriate.

Health and safety

Our facilities and operations are subject to a wide range of health; safety, security and environmental
(“HSSE”) laws and regulations in all of the jurisdictions in which we operate. These requirements
govern, among other things, the manufacture, storage, handling, treatment, transportation and disposal
of hazardous substances and wastes, wastewater discharges, air emissions (including GHG emissions),
noise emissions, human health and safety, process safety and risk management and the clean-up of
contaminated sites. Many of our operations require permits and controls to monitor or prevent
pollution. We have incurred, and will continue to incur, substantial ongoing capital and operating

. expenditures to ensure compliance with current and future HSSE laws, regulations and permits or the
more stringent enforcement of such requirements.

Our operations are currently in material compliance with all HSSE laws, regulations and permits. We
actively address compliance issues in connection with our operations and properties and we believe
that we have systems in place to ensure that environmental costs and liabilities will not have a material
adverse impact on us:.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and the consolidated
and company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law the directors have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs"), as adopted by the European Union, and the parent Company
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practices
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 Reduced Framework
Disclosure.
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Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries and of the
profit or loss of the Company for that year.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
e make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and applicable UK
Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the Group and Company financial statements respectively;

o . notify the shareholders about the use of disclosures exemptions if any, of FRS 101 used in the
preparation of these financial statements; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Group and/or Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of these financial statements confirms that:

(i) so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s
auditors are unaware.

(ii) each director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken in his duty as director in order to
make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors
are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418
of the Companies Act 2006.

Independent Auditors

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a
resolution that they will be reappointed will be proposed at the annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board:

G Leask
Director
20 November 2015

Registered number 6959146
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS ]NDUSTRIES
LIMITED

Report on the group financial statements

Our opinion
In our opinion INEOS Industries Limited’s group financial statements (the “financial statements”):

o giveatrue. and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2014 and of its
: profit and cash flows for the year then ended;
o  have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
. (“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union; and
.o have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within the Directors' Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual
Report”), comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2014;

the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehenswe income for
the year then ended; )

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accountmg
policies and other explanatory mformatlon ’

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is
applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the European Union.

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they
have made assumptions and considered future events.

Opinion on other matter prescrlbed by the Compames
Act 2006

In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements. -

Other matters on which we are required to report by
exception

Adequacy of information and explanations received -

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received
all the information and explanations we require for our audit. We have no exceptions to report arising
from this responsibility. |

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of
directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this
responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the
- audit

Qur responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fiilly in the Statement of directors' responsibilities set out on page 7, the directors are
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view. -



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS INDUSTRIES
LIMITED

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from matenal misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of: .

e  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been
consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
e the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
o the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available
evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we
consider necessary to provide a reasonable basis for.us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence
through testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report identify
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is

. apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us
- in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Other matter

. We have reported separately on the company financial statements of INEOS Industries Limited for the
year ended 31 December 2014.

Steve Denison (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Newcastle upon Tyne

20 November 2015 -



CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Revenue,

TGOSt OF SAlES...uerurerersreriorrereaeasserersveresrasessessesarsssenseaesrasasasararsrsesesrsananes
Gross profit. . .

Distribution costs.........ceecvveeererivneararenns

Administrative expenses

Exceptional administrative eXpenses.........covveeeeneses Cerenaeacenssreesnenesisesesens
Total administrative EXPENSES...c.eeriieicslieiniiniiiiisni st rene e

Operating loss

Share of profit of associates and joint ventures using the equity accounting
method.......ooiviiviniiniennnes e eereretetat e e erere s s s e ens e asesens
Profit on disposal of Investment.......cccccvniiiinieininiiinie e
Profit on disposal of businesses..........ccooieiviviiiiensiinsiniieseeiesirses e
Profit before net finance costs .

~ FINance MCOME......covurrernrrissrenerareriressrseboconnssianissnessrareseesnssssesssaerars .

Finance costs........
" Net finance costs
Profit before taxation
Tax credit/(Charge).......coovivieivinivinsiiriicccre ettt e
Profit/ (loss) for the year. .

Attributable to:

Non-controfling IMterest.......ccoviivieririiniiiiiie et
Profit/ (loss) for the year

The notes on pages 17 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

2014 2013
1,473.9 1,007.1
(1,417.8) (924.2)
56.1 82.9
(57.2) (36.8)
(22.4) (56.2)
(25.8) (26.6)
(48.2) (82.8)
(49.3) (36.7)
54.8 58.9
105.4 -
- 0.7
410.9 229
8.8 2.9
(65.6) (21.9)
(56.8) (19.0)
354.1 3.9
42.7 (5.2)
396.8 (1.3)
406.4 3.6
(9.6) {4.9)
396.8 (1.3)




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

Note 2014 2013
‘ €m
Profit/ (loss) for the year. 396.8 (1.3)
Other comprehensive (expenses)/income
‘Items that will not be recycled to profit or loss: . -
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit plans, net of tax........cco...... 18 (12.6) 1.7
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures....... : 2.0) 4.1
(14.6) 5.8
_Items that may subsequently be recycled ‘to profit or loss: .
Foreign exchange translation differences, net of tax.........cccocceiiniiiiennnnen. 24.7 0.3)
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures....... 45.0 (28.4)
Reclassification of share of other comprehensive income of joint venture... (16.6) -
‘ ' 53.1 (28.7)
Other comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year, net of tax.......... : .~ 385 (22.9)
Total comprehensive income/(expenses) for the year......cccceccorennnnnen. 435.3 (24.2)

: . N
The notes on pages 17 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

Note 2014 2013 1 January 2013
€m

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment...........cccooveiiiininincnienn. 9 1,143.8 . 152.2 151.9
Intangible assets..........ooveeeriinniimieiieece e 10 1,642.0 1.9 12
Investments in equity-accounted investees...........ccccceevnenns 11 8.0 630.6 594.9
Trade and other receivables...........ccooovivniniiniiiiniiiiininnnnn. 15 829 443 -
Other financial @sSets.........cocovvivnmiinnieniiiinineinnerieeenn. 12 4.0 4.0 4.0
Deferred tax assets.........cceeeveerevecriiveiiinicineniniecensesneens 13 - 12.5 12.0
Total non-current assets 2,880.7 845.5 764.0
Current assets
INVENLOMES. ... .coveeenreerceiceeertecrtecraesresseeentesnresrscneeneas 14 581.2 76.1 73.6
Trade and other receivables...........ccooviiviniiiniiiniicnienninn. 15 799.2 185.4 201.9
Tax receivables........ooveeeeeeierriitteeieecceeceere e neeenene 80.4 - -
Cash and cash equivalents...........cccccovniinriniininiininn. 404.1 48.7 47.9
Total current assets 1.864.9 310.2 323.4
Total assets - 4,745.6 1,155.7 1,087.4
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital........cccoeeeeeireiieieee e 20 - - -
Other TESEIVES. .....eoereeireieiererarrenieeeeseeaecaneeasaceeeecrenenesa 15.6 229 -
Retained €amings......c...covueiiriieiinriinciniinsecniennesneeseenns 948.8 546.4 534.8
Total shareholders' funds 964.4 523.5 © 5348
Non-controlling interest...........ccocvvvrvuieniiimniierinncnninnennens (3.7 (7.8) (3.1
Total equity. 960.7 515.7 531.7
Non-current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings... 16 1,562.2 105.9 67.2
Trade and other payables.........c.ccocoeiiiiciininniiiie 17 267.2 143.2 226.6
Deferred tax liabilities.........cooeeevirrnicecicrecciciiiiiiis 13 4115 - -
Employee benefits...........ooorimiiiiiinniiiinieiee e 18 104.3 51.2 49.8
PrOVISIONS. ....ccemeearrtieentennrennesiesnseesssessssssessasensesasnessses 19 74.6 8.7 34
Total non-current liabilities. 2.419.8 309.0 347.0
Current liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings...........ccovcereeeciiunen. 16 59.7 1.8 394
Trade and other payables.........c.ccoccoviiivninniinniiee 17 1,175.0 306.8 165.0
Tax payables.........covviiiiimiieiiee s 74.7 1.0 4.3
PrOVISIONS. ..cceeruriuracreeeceeeerateeresssaeennssnsessuessessesssensnns 19 55.7 214 -
Total current liabilities 1.365.1 331.0 208.7
Total liabilities 3,784.9 640.0 555.7
Total equity and liabilities 4.745.6 1.155.7 1,087.4

The notes on pages 17 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 12 to 74 were approved by the Board of Directors on 20 November
2015 and signed on its behalf by:

G Leask
Director



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

. Total share- Non-
Share Other Retained holders' cantrolling Total
capital Reserves earnings funds interest equity
€m

Bal atlJ v 2013, - - 534.8 534.8 (3.]). 531.7
Profit/(loss) for the year........ccoeneeiisiiiinninnne ‘ - - 3.6 3.6 4.9) (1.3)
Other comprehensive income: .

Poreign exchange translation diffe . . 0.3) - 0.3) 0.2 ©.1)
Remeasurements of post-cmployment benefit plans........ - 1.7 - 1.7 L7
Share of other comprehensive

income of assoicates and jOInt Ventures........oerererreriinenne - (24.3) - (243) (24.3)
Transactions recorded divectly in equity: R

Amount arising on {tr t . - - 8.0 8.0 - 8.0
Balanee at 31 D ber 2013 - (22.9) 546.4 523.5 7.8 515.7
Profit/ (loss) for the year......ccoiiennieiiiccens - - 406.4 406.4 {9.6) 396.8
Other comprehensive income: ) ’ : )

Poreign g lation difference - 24.7 - %7 ©.7) 24.0
Rem ts of post-cmployment benefit plans........ - (12.6) - (12.6) (12.6)
Share of other comprehensive

income of assoicates and joint ventures........ovecrrerecersens - 43.0 - 43.0 43.0
Reclassification of share of

other comprehensive i of joint venture - (16.6) - (16.6) (16.6)
Transactions recorded diréctly in equity:

Acquisition through busi binati - - - - -, 144 14.4
Dividend.....ooeeeieiiii e - - (4.0) (4.0) (4.0)
Bal at 31 D ber 2014, - 15.6 . 048.8 964.4 3.7) 960.7
Analysis of Other Reserves:

Remeasure-
ment of post-
Translation employment Total other
reserve benefit plans reserves
€m

Balance at 1 Jananary 2013 - - -
Foreign exchange translation differences, net of tax (0.3) - {0.3)
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit plans, net of taX.............cccceeeeee - 1.7 1.7
Share of other comprehensive income of assoicates and joint ventures........... (28.4) 4.1 (24.3)
Balance at 31 December 2013 28.7) 5.8 22.9)
Foreign exchange translation differences, net of tax 247 - 24.7
Remeasurements of post-employment benefit plans, netof tax..................... - (12.6) (12.6)
Share of other comprehensive income of assoicates and joint ventures........... 45.0 (2.0) 43.0
Reclassification of share of other compreheasive income of joint venture..... (16.6) - (16.6)
Balance at 31 December 2014. 244 (8.8) 15.6

The notes on pages 17 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED-31 DECEMBER 2014

Note 2014 2013
€m
. Cash flows from operating activities ) .
Profit/ (loss) for the year.........cocovviveriniiecinnnnieinn, ceerersnrareennneeans 396.8 o (1.3) -
Adjustments for: . o
DIEPIECIAtON. .....ooveeciieiniiiiririrarirner s berbebestasbe s serasbrrarbessastsssansanans 9 39.1 11.8
AMOTHSALON. ....orvvveienrnrinmimsssnesesserseseersnsssnnanss et s 10 16.6 0.6
Net fINANCE COSS..ovvvrrrrrrrnrrerisetesesesessesasssssessssnscscscsssesensarersssesessesesesess ‘ ‘ 7 56.8 19.0
Share of proft of equity-accounted investees.......ooueclumvinvirininiecieniineene, (54.8) (58.9)
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment.......c...ccoveeviveniririvireniiennnns ' - 7.1
Profit on disposal of investments.........c.covvurenrinininnicinii 2 (405.4) -
Profit on disposal of bUSINESSES......ccevviiiiniiiveiiieininircr e - ©.7).
*Tax (credit) /charge......c.ccoeveeverneernercncnnans 8 42.7) 5.2
Decrease in trade and other receivables..........ccoouneeeniennciiniiiininns ' 236.1 19.2
Decrease il MVENLOTIES. ....cuuererurerereremreecnensiimisisasesssn s asntsenes 47.6 2.1
(Increase) /decrease in trade and other payables.........ccoevvirevinriniceencn. (128.8) 27.5
Decrease in provisions and employee benefits........c.ccoovieiriieniiiniiiennnnnns . (9.2) “(1.3)
TR PAI...ooevorereeereeremsrtssssarssesesseras i sssarassssssesensanassssresaenrasesssereacaes (5.8) 9.7)
Net cash from operating activities : 146.3 20.6
Cash flows from investing activities . . .
Interest and other finance income received.... . 5.4 0.5
Dividends received.......c.coovereireninniinicinniineniirenrenaeanre s . 0.4 0.3
Loans received from related parties.........oovoueueevecrcenencanencens. . 27.6 39.9
Loans grantéd to related parties........ccovivuviiiiiiiiiniimeniiniiesieesineeeneene - (18.3)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired........c.ccooveniniinnniinnn. 2 (458.4) 5.9
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment............ccoeeciiiiiiiniiiinnenninnn, 9 (75.9) (18.8)
Acquisition of intangible assets........ccoceevieriiiniii s 10 (3.9) -
Acquisition of other HIVESHNENLS. o...ovoveeceeeerececaceseeseeaeseseseenesenerasasarssssns - (16.3)
Net cash used in investing activities (504.8) (18.6)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from term 10ans.......coccocceeveineecicnecnniniiincinens ettt . 587.1 -
Proceeds from PIK toggle loan.........cccccooiiiciniiiinmininnnniiee e 200.0 -
Proceeds from securitisation facility.......... Hereereeereees s e e rae e s s ne s e nes - 4.4
Repayment of other borrowIngs.........ccceveveenveiiinininincnircirenrienecesraesnans (17.9) -
TOEELESt PAI.......vevrervesievereresesearrarsseeneararasesessssseeasssasarasastsesenaraseasens . ‘ (18.0) (5.4)
DEbE SSUE COSES....vvnrerrerrrirsesrariesesraeietesesssesesesnensssasssasasasasasasasesesesasesese (35.4) -
Dividend paid.........coceeuericciiciiierrncccntre e 21 (4.0) -
Net cash generated/ (used) in financing activities 711.8 . (1.0)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents..........covevevenirivrennieniiiieiinins : 3533 1.0
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 JANUATY.........ovceererererearssneneuiossesesseesees . 487 479
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations. on cash and cash equivalents.............. 2.1 {0.2)
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December. 4041 48.7

The notes on pages 17 to 74 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Overview

INEOS Industries Limited (the “Company”) is a private company limited by shares incorporated and
domiciled in the UK. The registered office address is Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire
S043 7FG. The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of a range of chemicals
used in a variety of applications. '

Basis of accounting

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and equity account the Group’s interest in associates and jointly controlled entities.

The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and approved by the
directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union (“Adopted IFRSs”) effective as of 31 December 2014 and with the Companies Act
2006 as applicable to companies using Adopted IFRSs.

The Group has prepared its financial statements in accordance with Adopted IFRSs for the first time for
the year ended 31 December 2014 and consequently has applied IFRS 1. An explanation of how the |
transition to Adopted IFRSs has affected the reported financial position, financial performance and cash
flows of the Group is provided in Note 31.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Adopted IFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process-of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. Judgements made by the directors, in the application of these
accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a
significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 28. -

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these Group financial statements.

Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the derivative financial
instrument and financial instruments classified as fair value through profit and loss are stated at their fair
value and non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

" Functional and presentation currency

These Group financial statements are presented in euro, which is the functional currency of the majority
of operations. The Group primarily generates income, incurs expenditure and has the majority of its
assets and liabilities denominated in Euros. The exchange rate as at 31 December 2014 was €1:$0.8220
and €1:£1.2791.

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest €0.1 million.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement

. with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s
. identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
_ the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Special purpose entities (“SPE”)

An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Group and
the SPE’s risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE. The Group has established
two SPEs, Styrolution Receivable Finance Limited and Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 Styrolution, for a
debt securitisation programme. The Group does not have any direct or indirect shareholdings in these
SPEs.

Styrolution Receivables Finance Limited is a special-purpose entity formed by the Group to purchase
receivables from Group entities for purposes of a securitization of such financial assets and is, in
substance, controlled by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 Styrolution is a Mexican Trust established by the Group to purchase
receivables from Styrolution Mexicana S.A. de C.V. for the purposes of securitization of such assets.
Styrolution Receivables Finance Limited is the first beneficiary of this Trust. It is therefore also, ir?
substance, controlled by the Group.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment
in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to ‘share of profit/(loss) of associates in the income statement. - '

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Joint arrangements '

The group applies IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and
obligations each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When the group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the group.

Foreign exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities
at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at
the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognised in the profit and loss account except for differences arising on the retranslation of a financial
liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation that is effective, or qualifying
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

cash flow hedges, which are recognised directly in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to the functlonal currency at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

-

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
consolidation, are translated to the Group’s presentational currency, euros, at foreign exchange rates
ruling at the reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated at exchange

"rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The Group applies an average rate for the year where
this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of-the- transactions. Exchange
differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are taken directly to the translation reserve.
They are recycled into the consolidated income statement upon disposal. '

Exchange differences arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation,
the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form
part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity in the translation
reserve. Foreign exchange differences arising on the retranslation of a borrowing designated as a hedge
of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised directly in equity, in the translation reserve, to
the extent that the hedge is effective. When the hedged part of a net investment is disposed of, the

- associated cumulative amount in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment to the profit or
loss on disposal.

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the
following two conditions:

a. they include no contractual obligations upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the Group; and

b. where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own
equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging a fixed
amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability.
Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts
presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude
amounts in relation to those shares.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recogmsed 1mt1ally at fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. :

Investments in debt and equity securities
Investments in loans and receivables are stated at amortised cost less impairment.

Other investments in debt and equity securities held by the Group are classified as being available-for-
sale and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive
income (in a fair value reserve), except for impairment losses and, in the case of monetary items such as
debt securities, foreign exchange gains and losses. When these investments are derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss. Where
these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss. Where no reliable measurement of fair value is available, available-for-sale
investments are stated at historic acquisition cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are répayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. :

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on subsequent re-
measurement to fair value is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance
income or expense. Where derivatives qualify for hedge accountmg, recogmtlon of any resultant gain or
loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a
recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or
loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective
portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance income
or expense.

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from the hedging reserve and is
included in the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a
financial liability, the associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified
" into profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed
affects profit or loss, e.g. when interest income or expense is recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

S U B

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the associated
cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the consolidated income statement as an
adjustment to revenue and cost of sales in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast
transaction affects revenue and cost of sales in the consolidated income statement

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the Group revokes designation
of the hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative
gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when
the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative
unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the consolidated income statement
immediately. '

Hedge of net investment in foreign operation

The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign exchange dxfferences arising on the retranslation of a
foreign currency loan where the loan is designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation
in accordance with IAS 21 and IAS 39.

Exchange differences arising on retranslation of foreign currency loans designated as a net investment
hedge are taken directly to equity via the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Gains and
losses accumulated in the translation reserve will be recycled to the statement of comprehenswe income
when the foreign operation is sold.

Prbperty, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historic cost less accumulated deprec1atlon and accumulated
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Cost may include
the cost of materials, labour and other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working
condition for their intended use. Cost may also include the cost of dismantling and rernovmg items and
restoring the site on which they are located.

Capital work in progress is held as assets under construction until fully commissioned and transferred
into active use. : '

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased
asset are classified as finance leases. Where land and buildings are held under leases the accounting
treatment of the land is considered separately from that of the buildings. Leased assets acquired by way
of finance lease are stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the
minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and less accumulated
impairment losses. The assets are depreciated over the shorter of their useful life or asset lease term.
Accounting for lease payments is described ahead.

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation commences from the
date an asset is brought into service. Land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

<

e Buildings: ’ 10 - 40 years
e  Plant and machinery, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles: 3 - 40 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Where an indicator of-
impairment exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount, which is the higher of the
asset's fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

Assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued-use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net.disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.

Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets
Business Combinations

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method except acquisitions
under common control which are outside the scope of IFRS 3. Business combinations are accounted for
using the acquisition method as at the acqmsmon date, which is the date on which control is transferred
to the Group.

Acquisitions on or after 1 January 2013
For acquisitions on or after 1 January 2013, the Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus

the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; plus

the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree; less

the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the 1dent1ﬁable assets acqurred and
liabilities assumed.:

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those assocrated with the issue of debt or equrty securities,
are expensed as incurred.

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity, it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within equity.
Otherwise, subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in proﬁt
or loss.

Acquisitions prior to 1 January 2013

IFRS 1 grants certain exemptions from the full requirements of Adopted IFRSs in the transition period.
The Group elected not to restate business combinations that took place prior to 1 January 2013. In
respect of acquisitions prior to 1 January 2013, goodwill is included at 1 January 2013 on the basis of its
deemed cost, which represents the amount recorded under UK GAAP which was broadly comparable
save that only separable intangibles were recognised and goodwill was amortised. On transition, certain
items recognised as other intangibles under Adopted IFRSs have been separately. accounted for with
appropriate adjustments against goodwill and amortisation of goodwill ceased as required by IFRS 1.
The classification and accounting treatment of business combinations that occurred prior to 1 January
2013 by merger accounting was not reconsidered.

Acquisitions under common control

Acquisitions under common control are accounted for at book value. The difference in the book value of
the assets acquired and consideration paid is recognised in the retained earnings.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries. All transaction costs are expensed as
incurred.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to groups of
cash-generating units and is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. At INEOS, cash
generating units are predominately business units. In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrymg
amount of goodwﬂl is included in the carrying amount of the investment in the investee.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. These intangible assets principally comprise the following assets

intellectual property rights;

customer relationships;

non-compete agreements;

license fees and

evaluation and exploration expenditures.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried-initially at cost. The initial cost is the
aggregate amount paid and the fair value of other consideration given to acquire the assets. An
intangible asset acquired as part of a business combination is recognised separately from goodwill if the
asset is separable or arises from contractual or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured
reliably.

Amortisation

Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite
useful life and goodwill are systematically tested for impairment at each reporting date. Other intangible
assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

e License fees - up to 15 years
e  Customer lists up to 12 years
e Intellectual property rights 10 - 15 years
L8

Non-compete agreements life of the agreement

These intangible assets are tested for impairment at the end of the reporting period if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Useful lives are examined on
an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

The amortisation is recognised in administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.

Research and development

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in the consolidated income statement as an expense as
incurred.
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- 1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group intends to and has the technical ability and sufficient resources to
complete development, future economic benefits are probable and if the Group can measure reliably the
expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. Development activities involve a
plan or design for. the production of new or substantially improved products or processes. The
expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Where regulatory and other uncertainties are such that the criteria are not met, the
expenditure is recognised in the income statement. Other development expenditure is recognised in the
income statement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and less accumulated impairment losses.

Exploration and evaluation activities
Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Shale Gas Exploration costs are accounted for under the successful efforts method by geographical area
with an assessment of commercial viability of those areas performed on a periodic basis.

Costs directly associated with an exploration site are initially capitalised as an intangible asset until the
evaluation of the site is complete and the results have been evaluated. These costs include topographical,
geological, geophysical and geochemical studies, civil costs, exploratory drilling and testing, sampling,
trenching, contractor charges, materials and fuels used, manpower and associated overheads. In the case
that the expenditure will not be immediately allocated to a site, it will be capitalised against the wider
licensed region and then subsequently allocated to the site using an appropriate method of
apportionment. Other costs are initially capitalised as property, plant and equipment and these include
drillings rigs, seismic equipment and other plant and machinery used in the exploration activity.

Pre-license costs incurred prior to acquiring the legal rights (or a share of the legal rights) to explore an
area are expensed to the income statement as they are incurred and are not subsequently capitalised.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and Evaluation expenditure is tested for impairment whenever circumstances suggest that it
may be impaired, which includes licences to be relinquished, no substantive plans for further exploration
of an area or where there is indication that exploration costs are unhkely to be fully recovered through
future development or sale.

Impairment excluding inventories and deferred tax assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are assessed at the end of the reporting period to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if

objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. '

For goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are
not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at the end of the reporting period.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. A cash generating unit is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised directly in
equity and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been
recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss even though the financial asset has not been
derecognised. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss is the difference
between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss. '

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Group’s receivables is calculated as the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables are not discounted where their duration is less
than one year or where the effect of discounting is not material.

The recoverable amount of othér assets is the greater of their fair values less costs to sell and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Reversals of impairment

- An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity security or receivable carried at amortised cost is
reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as available for sale is
not reversed through profit or loss. If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment
loss may no longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost and net realisable value. Cost includes expenditure
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs in bringing the
inventory to its present location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in -
progress, cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity. Provision
is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate.

Items owned by the Group that are held on consignment at another entity’s premises are included as part
of the Group’s inventory. '

~ Commodities

Contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of receipt or delivery of non-
financial items in accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements (own-use
contracts) are not accounted for as derivative financial instruments, but rather as executory contracts.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits

~ The Group operates a number of defined contribution plans and funded and unfunded defined benefit

pension schemes. The Group also provides unfunded early retirement benefits, long service awards and
an incentive plan for certain employees.

The Group provides health care insurance to eligible retired employees and their dependants, primarily
in the United States.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed

contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated income statement as incurred. :

Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan that is not a defined contribution plan. The
Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine
its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets (at bid price) are deducted. The liability discount
rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit rated bonds denominated in the currency of, and that
have maturity dates approximating to the terms of, the Group’s obligations. The calculation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

When the benefits of a plan are amended or curtailed, the portion of the increased or decreased benefit
relating to past service by employees is recognised as an expense immediately in the consolidated
income statement. ' '

" All actuarial gains and losses as at 1 January 2013, the date of transition to IFRSs, were recognised. In

respect of actuarial gains and losses that arise subsequent to 1 January 2013, the Group recognises them
in the year they occur directly in equity through the statement of comprehensive income.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the asset recognised is limited to the present
value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The pension scheme surplus (to the extent that it is recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full.
The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between:

cost of sales and administrative expenses ;
net finance costs; and )

e in net expense recognised directly in equity, the re-measurements of post-employment benefit
obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR T HE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Short-term’benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term
cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this

" amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet where the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. Provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to
theliability.

Restructuring provisions

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the Group has a detailed, formal plan for the restructuring
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected by either starting to implement the plan or

. announcing its main features to those affected and therefore has a legal or constructive obligation to
carry out the restructuring.

The Group can be exposed to environmental liabilities relating to its past operations, principally in
respect of soil and groundwater remediation costs. Provision for these costs are made when expenditure
on remedial work is probable and the cost can be estimated within a reasonable range of possible

~ outcomes.

Decommissioning and restoration provisions

The Group makes full provision for the future costs of the decommissioning and restoration of
exploration and evaluation facilities on a discounted basis. The decommissioning and restoration
provision relates to the total cost of cementing and plugging the ex1st1ng wells and any costs associated
with returning the sites to their original use.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products sold or services provided to third parties net of sales
discounts, value added taxes and duties. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have passed to the buyer and it can be reliably measured.

The pricing for products sold is determined by market prices (market contracts and arrangements) or is
linked by a formula to published raw material prices plus an agreed additional amount (formula
contracts). Revenue arising from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are either dispatched or
delivered depending on the relevant delivery terms and the point at which risks and rewards have been
transferred to the buyer when the prices are determinable and when collectability is considered probable.

Services provided to third parties include administrative and operational services provided to other .
chemical companies with units on our sites and services under tolling arrangements. Under tolling
arrangements, customers pay for or provide raw materials to be converted into a certain specified
product, for which the Group charges a toll fee. The Group only recognises the toll fee as turnover
earned under such arrangements upon shipment of the converted product to the customer. For all other
services, revenue is recognised upon completion of the service provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Government grants

Government grants are shown in the consolidated balance sheet as deferred income. This income is
amortised on a straight line basis over the same period as the tangible fixed asset to which it relates or
the life of the related project. » ‘

Expenses ' ’
Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated income statement on' a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Finance lease payments

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Finance income and expenses

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in the consolidated income statement as it accrues,
using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated income statement
on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is established. .

Finance costs comprise interest payable, finance charges on finance leases, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, net fair value losses derivatives and foreigh exchange losses that are recognised in the
consolidated income statement (see foreign exchange accounting policy). Finance income comprise
interest receivable on funds invested and from related party loans, interest on the defined benefit plan
assets, net fair value gain on derivatives and foreign exchange gains.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity,
in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets-and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary
differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in the
foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be
utilised. ’ :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

. Emission trading scheme

The Group participates in the EU Emissions Trading Scheme. The Scheme encourages companies to
reduce carbon emissions by offering financial incentives if they achieve their annual reduction targets.
If a company reduces emissions beyond their target then the surplus may be traded in the form of
emissions permits.

The incentive money due from the EU Emissions Trading Scheme is recognised in the consolidated
income statement once the reduction targets have been met. The emissions permits allocated under the
Scheme are at nil cost. The Group recognises the revenue from such permits upon their sale to third
parties. .

The Kyoto Protocol sets legally binding targets for cutting emissions and provides for three international

" “flexible mechanisms” to be used by developed countries in cost effectively meeting their greenhouse
gas emissions targets, one of which is the Clean Development Mechanism (“CDM?”). This permits
industrialised countries to meet part of their commitments through projects in developing countries. The |
CDM programme provides incentives for the project participants in the form of Certified Emissions
Reductions (“CERs”). It is the trading of these CERs that provides the market incentive to reduce
emissions. The Group is involved in a number of CDM projects. CERs produced from these projects are
recorded at nil cost. CERs purchased from third parties are recognised within stock on the basis of
purchased cost. The Group recognises the revenue from sale of CERs upon their sale to third parties.

The Group recognises a provision for emissions produced. The provision is measured at the carrying
amount of the emission rights held (nil if granted, otherwise at cost) or, ’in the case of a shortfall, at the
current fair value of the emission rights needed.

Exceptional items

The presentation of the Group’s results separately identifies the effect of profits and losses on the
disposal of businesses, the impairment and the reversal of impairment of non-current assets, the cost of
restructuring acquired businesses and the impact of one off events such as legal settlements as,
exceptional items. Results excluding disposals, impairments, restructuring costs and one off items are
used by management and are presented in order to provide readers with a clear and consistent
presentation of the underlying operating performance of the Group’s ongoing business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (contmued)
Accountmg standards not applied

The following IFRSs relevant to the Group have been endorsed by the EU were available for early
application but have not been applied by the Group in these financial statements. The impact of their
adoption is currently being assessed and is not expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements unless otherwise indicated:

o Defined Benefit Plans: Emp[oyee Contributions — Amendments to IAS 19 (mandatory for
year commencing on or after 1 February 2015).

The amendments introduce a relief that will reduce complexity and burden of accounting
for certain contributions from employees or third parties. When the contributions are
eligible for the practical expedient, the company is permitted (but not required to) recognise
them as a reduction of the service cost in the period in which the related service is rendered.
The amendment also clarifies the accountmg for those companies who do not apply the
practical expedient.

e  IFRIC 21 Levies (mandatory for year commencing on or after 17 June 2014).

The intérpretation defines a levy as an outflow from an entity imposed by a government in
accordance with legislation. That levy is recognised as a liability when — and only when -
the triggering event specified in the legislation occurs.

e Annual Improvements to IFRSs — 2010-2012 Cycle (mandatory for year commencing on or
after 1 February 2015)."

= IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and IAS 38 Intangible Assets — clarifies that  _
the requirements of the revaluation model under both the standards, recognising that
the restatement of accumulated depreciation (amortisation) is not always proportionate
to the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset.

»  IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures — the definition of ‘related party’ has been extended
to include a management entity that provides key managerial person (KMP) services.

= IFRS 2 Share-based Payments — provides clarification on the definition of ‘vesting
condition’ by separately defining ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’.

»  IFRS 3 Business Combinations — the amendments clarify the classification and
measurement of contingent consideration.

=  IFRS 8 Operating Segments — the standard has been amended to explicitly require the
disclosure of judgments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria.

»  IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements — clarifies that IASB did not intend to prevent .
entities from measuring short-term receivables and payables that have no stated.
interest rate at their invoiced amounts without discounting, if the effect of not
discounting is immaterial.

o Annual Improvements to IFRSs — 2011-2013 Cycle (mandatory for year commencing on or
after 1 January 2015). ‘

= IAS 40 Investment Property — has been amended to clarify that an entity should assess
whether an acquired property is an investment property and perform a separate
assessment under IFRS 3 to determine whether the acquisition of the investment
property constitutes a business combination.

»  IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards - provides
" clarification that a first time adopter is permitted but not required to early adopt a new
or revised IFRS.

= IFRS 3 Business Combinations — the scope of the standard has been amended to
exclude all types of formations under IFRS 11 in the ﬁnancnal statements of joint
arrangements themselves.

»  IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements — the scope of the IFRS 13 portfolio exception has
been aligned with the scope of IAS 39.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

2. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
Acqhisitions in the current year

Styrolution Holding GmbH

On 17 November 2014, the Group acquired the remaining 50% of the shares in Styrolution Holding
GmbH for €1,108.7 million from BASF SE. Styrolution was previously a 50/50 joint venture between
the Group and BASF. The company is a global styrenics supplier with a focus on styrene monomer,
polystyrene, ABS (acrylonitrile butadiene styrene) and styrenic specialties. From the acquisition date
to 31 December 2014 the subsidiary contributed a net loss of €63.8 million to the consolidated net
profit for the year.

Effect of acquisition

The acquisition had the following.effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities:

Recognised
values on
‘acquisition
€m

At:quiree's net assets at the acquisition date:
Property, plant and equipment 865.8
INEANGIDIE ASSELS. .. ceceereerercreetiene e ettt ettt ea 931.8
Investments........coeeeviririviverireeceniees 0.3
INVEntories....ooevermmrerercreerearirreranarererens - 536.0
Trade and other reCEIVADIES........cciveirierie it 803.4

* Cash and cash €qUIVAIENIS. ......cv it 519.2
Deferred tax HabiHHes. ...........ovrrvesveereenssessrssssssnsasesssessssessssesasssses eeeereeneaaene [OOSR (449.9)
PrOVISIONS...ccuurirircrensssseaersrersnersnersnesssessnesssressssssnossesssesseessesseasas trrre et e besra s eraees (117.1)
Trade and other payables.........ccviviiiinmininiici e Carsetesneaesetesn s nean e et ee e ba e atae e (1,521.0)
MINOTity MEETESt....ovsviinieiiiirieiriestiesransniesranensnenenenns e eerereheaeiraberariebeeane et b st s et e b sa b as (14.49)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities . 1,554.6
Consideration paid: . .
L0 OO O U O O U PP UP RS 908.7
Deferred consideration............cvcceecuirininirininnninernrrnes e eseeernees ereraare et e s s e e s ne s sarsearas 200.0
Fair value of previously held equity INterest.........coovriiiiiririniririirirn e 1,108.8
Total consideration paid..... : 2,217.5
Difference between consideration and net assets acquired 662.9

The difference between consideration and net assets acquired has been recognised as goodwill within
intangible assets in Note 10.

Acquisition related costs

The Group incurred acquisitioh related costs of €11.7 million mainly related to legal and professional
fees. These costs have been included in exceptional administrative expenses in the Group’s
- consolidated income statement

Acquired receivables

The fair value of acquired receivables was €803.4 million. The gross contractual amounts receivable are
€803.4 million and, at the acquisition date, €6. 9 million of contractual cash flows were not expected to
be received.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

2. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Prior to the acquisition date, the Group’s interest in the Styrolution joint venture was accounted for in
accordance with the equity method of accounting. As a result of the acquisition the previously held
interest of 50% has been disposed of for a fair value of €1,108.8 million, being the equivalent of the
value paid to BASF for their 50% holding. Therefore the gain on the previously held equity interest in
Styrolution has been calculated as follows: ' '

Gain on
disposal of
investment

€m

Fair value of previously held equity HIBETESL. . eoveereesesrasecaeesessarsesseesssrssrassesssassaresans rerveerrenaraaens 1,108.8
Reclassification of share of other comprehensive income of Styrolution........cvoeuemeiiioinieiieirrine 16.6

Carrying-value of equity accounted NVeSIMEnt........cocvveviiviiiiriiniiriiri ettt aens (720.9
Gain on previously held interest in Styrolution recognised in income statement 405.4

Grangemouth CHP Limited

On 1 October 2014, the Group acquired all of the ordinary shares in Grangemouth CHP Limited for
€69.6 million, satisfied in cash. The primary business of Grangemouth CHP Limited is to sell the steam
and electricity from its plant in Grangemouth to Petroineos Manufacturing Scotland Limited (a Joint
venture between INEOS AG and Petrochina). From the acquisition date to 31 December 2014 the
subsidiary confributed a net profit of €3.3 million to the consolidated net profit for the year.

Effect of acquisition
Recognised
values on
€m

Acquiree's net assets at the acquisition date:
Property, plant and EQUIPIMENL..........cv..veemrevererssersrsessesssssarsssssnsarssssessssossatsssssarssssssssssssasasssaracsres 60.1
INtAnEIblE @SSELS.....c.ciiviriririreririiiiri ittt s st s s s n s rn e s s e s ar s s ra e 48.0
TOVENLOTIES....cviiiierereienrnrerererereriran i cas e s senenesonenrane ettt et a s st s e sessrse s nenaes 2.6
Trade and other receivables.........ccooviviiciiiiiii e 9.2
Cash and cash equivalents 0.7
Trade and other payables... ..ottt s e e e 42.1)
Deferred tax-liabilities................... e eeereseatremeaeaaretetataaeteaeanaete e aentees s e aentaeaerese st saneseesa et gretsaennn (8.9)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities y y 69.6
Consideration paid: .
Cash.....coeererererereiaeretereaese s saenesanens earurstseseeeeesesaressseecereserararacataeevevesesieiesesrataneerarasrererererasarararar 69.6
Difference between consideration and net. assets acquired -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

2. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Acquisition related costs

The Group incurred acquisition related costs of €1.9 million related to legal fees and stamp duty. These
costs have been included in exceptional administrative expenses in the Group’s consolidated income
statement. :

Acquired receivables

The fair value of acquired receivables was €9.2 million. The gross contractual amounts receivable are
€9.2 million and, at the acquisition date, €nil of contractual cash flows were not expected to be received.

Acquisitions in the prior year

On 1 January 2013 the Group acquired the trade and assets of the Organic Chlorine Derivatives business
of INEOS ChlorVinyls Belgium NV and 100% of the share capital of INEOS Maastricht BV, which are
related parties, for a net consideration of €4.9 million. The business was renamed INEOS
ChloroToluenes. The business takes key raw materials of chlorine, toluene and ortho- chlorotoluene to
make a range of products which are used in the manufacture of solvents, agro chemicals,
pharmaceuticals and artificial fragrances. The primary reason for the business combination was to
separate the business from Kerling plc as the product portfolio was more specialised with fewer
competitors and higher margins. Its independence has allowed for greater focus on growth opportunities
and control of costs.

Effect of acquisition

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities:

Recognised
values on
€m

Acquiree's net assets at the ac-quisition date:
Property, plant and €QUIPIMENL........ccovviiiiiiiiimiieeiieeircreattiie e s et rerrasr et e e eeetttbrrsabrssaaseeesaassssnens 59
IOVENLOTIES . ..eeveriireemeeeees e erceten et rees et ecesesbbaeee s nrar s e e esarneees feerere i —erteeera e et e ansses s 6.4
Trade and Other reCEIVADIES...........uuvieiiiiiiiiiiieiiecieere ittt r s s s s sssssenarasanes 1.4
Cash and cash equivalerits...‘ ........................................................................................................... 0.1
Trade and other payables.........ccccccvviiiiiiiiiininnnes eeeeteseureeeeeererattaceaeeteteteteeeaessanesrnnrrreaaraees 0.9
Net identifiable assets and liabilities . 12.9
Consideration paid: X .
Cash PriCE PAI.....ccevirerureiriiiiiiieieieiiiiitret e eerreee st eeeiabr e e s s n e s e s ssarraeesaranesees eeerreee e ) 4.9
Difference between consideration and net assets acquired (8.0

This is a common control transaction and the difference between consideration and net assets acquired
has been recognised in retained earnings. ~

In February 2013 INEOS Melamines GmbH bought customer lists and recxpes from DSM Neoresins for
a consnderatlon of €1 0 million.

Acquisition related costs

The Group incurred acquisition related costs of €0.4 million related to duty fees, agency fees, notary
fees and costs relating to the share capital on incorporation of INEOS ChloroToluenes Belgium NV and
INEOS ChloroToluenes Holdings BV. These costs have been included in admlmstratlve expenses in the
Group’s consolidated income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2014

3. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS®

Exceptional expenses

Exceptional administrative expenses

Melamines LLC settlement of ﬁne with Envn'onmental Protection Agcncy
Restructurmg of Styrenics OPerations........cveuvveereerieniniecsinirennaereneeensesesirenes
Other business restructuring EXPENSES.......ouvevrieueirievmrirerersrererirevrereessassesassissnasses
Acquisition related costs..........oceeeninisd rerartreees st aenerararsrararoveraras JERI
-Other exceptional #EMS........occueieeirieirt s

2014 2013

° €m

- 0.3

4.5 25.8

6.4 : 0.5

13.6 -

1.3 -

25.8 26.6

Other business restructuring expenses for 2014 include'a programme of planned restructuring following

the acquisition of Styrolution Holding GmbH.

Acquisition relatéd costs include €11.7 million (2013: €nil) related to the aéquisition of Styrolution
Holding GmbH and €1.9 million (2013: €nil) related to the acquisition of Grangemouth CHP Limited.

The nature of these costs is explained in Note 2.

4. OPERATING LOSS

Included in operating loss are the following:

Research expensed as iNCUITE......c...ooieiiiiiiiieniin i san i
Amortisation of other intangible assets........cocvviviivniiinien s
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment..........ccocovivirivirinniniiieiesinionnn,
Amortisation of gOVEMMENt FrANLS......c.vurueeecieruresnienereerncireecciesinae veeresrrereannene

Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment:

OWNEA ASSELS....veverererenirerererieaeaemesesessartrsssionsssssraracssersestssssorsrerarersrersrsnsresaneranas

Operating lease rental charges:

Plant, machinery and eqUIPMeNnt.......ccocvcveiereierneiinniieiniiitini et

Auditors’ remuneration:

Audit of these financial SEAtEMEDES..............cvvveeeeecuesseserisessesiessessesesssessssesssessesses ’
Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation...........cccoceeunneue.

2014 2013
€m
72 4.0
16.6 0.6
. 7.1
2.8) (2.6)
39.1 11.8
0.2 14
33 0.1
2014 2013
€m
0.1 0.1
0.6 0.2
0.7 03




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014 .

5. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year,
analysed by category, was as follows:

2014 2013
Operations.........cocvcevreiiiinans aenereeeeeneaennd erteetee e ae s e e tbe i 922 © 565
AQMINISIIAHON. .. veveeieaicienraiesosesssesateasseistestes st essnraranaras e as s beasararararssassensaessnsasaesnans 134 97
Research and development..........ccocoviiviislvnnnnicniniins eeterrareraraaartebessnsnsnsrssereststens 85 22
1,141 684

“The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:
2014 2013
€m

Wages and salaries ...................................................................... 84.1 - 416
S0Cial SECUIILY COSES ..oivuvrriviriiriiiieiisin it is sttt s re e e s e s e e b e beaebesesesnsesnnenas 10.8 7.6
Expenses related to defined contribution pension plans ...........cooreioiiiiicnienicinniin 8.6 1.9
Expenses related to defined benefit pension plans ... svereeseeerareaeane 2.8 1.9
' 106.3 53.0

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors did not receive any emoluments of their services to the company during the year (2013:
€nil). . . .

7. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Recognised in profit or loss

2014 2013 -
€m

)Finance income > ,
Interest receivable on bank balances.........icocviiviiiininiiiii _ .01 0.4
Interest receivable on related party balances............cccoivinniini 3.4 -
Other INterest TECEIVADIE..........cveuevermeerersereassesseesees s seassssasssasssaesenssrncsesssesesesenesesenes 53 2.5
Total finance income ; . . 8.8 29
Finance costs ‘
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts.........oocmeriirniimi 1.0 3.6
Interest payable on related party balances..........oovvvreerineiiriniinii e 17.9 -
Interest on employee benefit Babilities..........cccoueernrrmeriniinnnic et 2.0 . 1.7
Other finance charges.......ccvcvovviiieririsicnii ittt e ssne s 28.0 14.3
Exchange mOVEMEIS. ......ovueccriiiiti it ettt sn e e b e aesnesnesrnanes 16.7 23
Total finance costs - 65.6 21.9
Net finance costs : 56.8 19.0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014 ‘ ‘

8. TAX CHARGE

Taxation recognised in the consolidated income statement

2014 2013
" em ;
Current tax expense
CurTent YEar .......evevniveriviveririnaeasesnasniees 0.4 -
Adjustments in respect of prior years 0.2
Total current tax expense 5 0.6 -
Foreign tax expense ) ’ .
Current year .............. teeeeeeeeeaesesrtaseee e e s s e ettt e e R bets AR 4.9) 44
Adjustments in respect of prior years . 0.7) 1.9
Total foreign tax expense ; . . . (5.6) 6.3
_Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences .......cccovominiioniiciiiniiiini .(23.9) -
Adjustments in respect of prior years ................. et sasan s sesaraes (13.8) (1.1)
Deferred tax expense (see Note 13) (37.7) (1.1
Total tax (credit)/ charge " (42.7) 52
Reconciliation of effective tax rate
2014 2013
€m
Profit before taxation 354.1 3.9
Tax using the UK corporation tax rate of 21.50% (2013: 23.25%) ....oveeecnieeieanecncnnencacs 76.1 0.9
Non-deductible expenses/tax eXempPt FEVENUES ......ccvvrrercrerireriisieasiasinsncassesnessesnesns (104.3) (18.6)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions ............. et e st it ae et e s s st e br e s s (14.6) 3.0
Utilisation of tax losses brought forward ..........ccooiiiiiiiniiiiiii e - 17.5
Other short-term timing differences.......coocveviimiriiiniiniiiinrinr e - 0.5
Deferred tax not 16CORMISEd. ... coverririmirimieiieniiete ettt e et ae e 14.4 -
Adjustments in respect of PHOT YEAIS ....ccviviivieiriieieieiirree et (14.3) 1.9
Total tax (credit)/ charge : ¥ (42.7) 5.2
Taxation recognised in other comprehensive income
2014 2013
Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net
€m
. Remeasurements of post-

employment benefit
ObLZAtioONS «.....veeceereveeersernes (17.1) 45 (12.6) 2.4 (0.7) 1.7
Total . (17.1) 4.5 (12.6) 24 (0.7) 1.7
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9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and
machinery,
fixtures
and .
- fittings,
Land and and motor Assets under
’ buildings vehicles construction Total
€m
Cost .
Balance at 1 January 2013........ccocconiiniiiiiiiiinnneens 15.0 154.3 14.0 183.3-
Acquisition through common control transactions.... 32 2.5 02 - 5.9
AQQIHONS. «o.eeeeeeereeenieirecenencceeerese e sarerare s araeeras 1.3 49 12.6 18.8
DiSPOSalS...c..eermiriiitiiii i st 0.9) (14.5) - (14.9)
TEANSEETS..cvveiereiraiereesreciessesenstsaesseessasseseneseesaesorssines 0.2 5.0 4.0 1.2
Effect of movements in foreign exchange.........cccveuevereenns (0.49) (5.0) (0.8) (6.2)
Balance at 31 December 2013 ' 18.9 147.2 22.0 188.1
Acquisition through business combinations...........cceevvuencnes 160.1 565.7 200.1 9259
AddIONS. ..c.cieieiierereie it s 1.1 22.7 52.1 759
DHSPOSALS....coneeeiiiier i e 0.3) (7.8) 4.3) (12.4)
Reclassifications.........c..c...... eeeeesne e nnte e re e ebeeeieanes 1.6 140.2 (132.3) 9.5
Effect of movements in foreign exchange.........cccovcvernnnenns 3.2 28.7 5.9 37.8
Balance at 31 December 2014 184.6 896.7 - 1435 1,224.8
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at'l January 2013.......covivruriiiiminiinieieecie, 21 293 - 314
Depreciation charge for the year.........cceevvvivriviininnnnne. 0.5 11.3 - 11.8
“Transfers 0.1 1.1 - 1.2
Disposals... (7.8) - (7.8)
Effect of movements in foreign exchange.........oeeuruccvereees 0.1) (0.6) - (0.7)
Balance at ‘31 December 2013 . 2.6 333 - 35.9
Depreciation charge for the year........ccc.cccevviniiniinininnnnne, 4.5 34.6 . - 39.1
DISPOSALS......vevesveeeesersensesaesseseessssecsesssensesesssessessesaseseses (0.3) (7.8) 4.3) (12.4)
Reclassifications. .......c.ceeveererercerecivcrinisecnnerieennens S - 0.8 8.7 - 9.5
Effect of movements in foreign exchange..............ccccenninl 0.5 < 4.1 4.3 8.9
Balance at 31 December 2014 8.1 729 - 81.0
Net book value .
At 31 December 2013......ccocvnirinivinirenireisrerereriecseens 16.3 113.9 22.0 152.2
At 31 December 2014 176.5 823.8 - 1435 1,143.8

As part of the acquisition of Styrolution, the group acquired a building under finance lease. The net
carrying amount of the building at balance sheet date is €1.6 million.
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
. Evaluation
N Intellectual Non and
Licence Customer property compete exploration )
fees lists rights agr cost Goodwill Total
€m

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2013......cccocvvemrnnnins 1.7 - - - - - 1.7
¢ Acquisitions - externally purch - 1.3 - - - S - 1.3

Balance at 31 December 2013.....ccccvenunnes 1.7 1.3 - - - - 3.0

Acquisition through business combinations.. 235 746.1 : 172.2 38.0 - 662.9 1,642.7

Additions. - - 0.8 13 1.8 - 3.9

Disposal . - (0.1) - - - ©.1)

Reclassifications eervvsseenerees - k) 1.8 0.1 - - - 02

Bffect of movements in foreign exchange.... 0.7 83 2.0 - - - 11.0

Bal at31D ber 2014 24.2 757.5 175.0 39.3 1.8 662.9 1,660.7

A lated amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 January 2013........cccrninenes 0.5 - - - - - 0.5

Amortisation charge for the year............... 0.3 0.3 - - - - 0.6

Bal at31 D ber 2013 0.8 0.3 - - - - 1.1

Amortisation charge for the year..........c..... 0.2 148 0.5 1.1 - - 16.6

Reclassificati 0.8) 0.4 0.6 - - - 0.2

Effect of in foreign exchange.... - 0.8 - - - < 0.8

Balance at 31 December 2014........covuneres 0.2 16.3 1.1 1.1 - - 18.7

Net book value

At 31 December 2013......viviivminieenenns ‘0.9 1.0 - - - - 1.9

At 31 D ber 2014, 24.0 - 741.2 173.9 38.2 1.8 662.9 1.642.0

Amortisation and impairment charge

The amortisation charge for 2014 and 2013 is recognised in administrative expenses in the consolidated
income statement. : :

11. INVESTMENTS

11a. Investments in Equity—Accounted Investees

Details of the associated undertakings are set out below:.

Country of Class of Ownership
incorporation  shares held 2014 2013
Styrolution Holdings GmbH................ PN Germany Ordinary NA' 50%
Tricoya Technologies Limited................... e e UK Ordinary - 50% 50%
Fluxel S.A.S France Ordinary 20% 20%

* On 17 November 2014, INEOS Industries Limited purchased the remaining 50% of shares in
Styrolution Holdings GmbH from BASF SE (see Note 2).
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11. INVESTMENTS (continued)

11a. Investments in Equity—Accounted Investees (continued)

Associated

Joint under-
ventures takings Total
€m
A1 JANUATY 2013...e.cuoiveerecrarrasiaserneaseaossessssessasssssacssessesencasessessacsscasesses i 587.5 74 594.9
Share of profits refamed ........ocermiriieiiieiiii e 58.8 0.1 58.9
Dividends TECEIVED ...cvverriieirrreicriisnieiisitesseassenssiesss st sasesesssisarsssensnasseases - (0.3) (0.3)
Share of other comprehensive income... (243) - (24.3)
AdGIHONS. .....ooeei ittt e s 14 - 1.4
At 31 December 2013 623.4 7.2 630.6
Dividends 16CeIVed .....vieiiiiiecieiiceitr e - (0.4) 04
Share of profits/ (losses) retained ..........coceieiiinininiesninencs s . 55.8 Q.0) 54.8
Share of other comprehensive income... 43.0 - 43.0
DISPOSALS.....eocveeeveeeeeceees e neansees (720.0) - (720.0)
At 31 Decémber 2014 2.2 5.8 8.0
All of the associated undertakings have December year ends. The reporting date of Tricoya
Technologies Limited is 31 March.
Summary aggregated financial information on joint ventures:
2014 2013
€m
CUITENE ASSELS. .. vvveiereeeeeiierriraeeraaseeitaruetessessosrasesseetiorseeesessssssssssenssssessssnneaeeessissassesssss 0.6 793.6
INON-CUITENE ASSELS. .. ueerereraeeeeiererttiertieierieieeitirtereettrrerreeterteereattererrarearteteeseaeteaeraeeaseaasaans 1.4 1,012.5
CUITENt HADIIEES ...vvvvvvvreieeeerneeieitiiiisetineee i reee s s s eessasbsssssssassbasssssssssssnsasssrrrnserssnsasinns (1.3) (500.7)
Non-current liabilities . - (45 1_.0)
Income ....0cccoevierennnnns 0.2 2,918.6
EXPEIISES. c..eeleriteesutenteesneeuseer e e et e bt ssas e bt e as s e e b s e b e s be e beeas e be s h b e e s e e b s eRserae Rt e s e aar et e naa s (1.9) (2,821.6)
Summary aggregated financial information on associates:
2014 2013
€m

ASSEES..eeierereiiitiiraeten e re e a e et aes e e e anbaes e 68.4 69.5
Liabilities.......... e R 282 28.7
REVETUES. ..v.e-evenesrsaressasssssses asesesssessnssessseersesassssse semastsesssasasaassenasssssesesssasomsasessanassonsasess 35.6 33.3
L 0SS /(PIOfit)...evoevserrsrmaeniensaescacsesesserenracessssmsssssassassensssenasssses e re st ettt ane e canraseene : (1.0) 1.3
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11. INVESTMENTS (continued) -
11b. Investments in subsidiaries
Country of Class of Ownership
incorporation  shares held 2014 2013
INEOS Industries Holdings Limited* UK " Ordinary - 100% 100%

Grangemouth CHP Limited.............. ' UK Ordinary 100% -
INEOS Industries America ]I LLC.. United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Industries America I LLC. United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS ABS (USA) LLC..curroemerererressivreenes <. United States  Ordinary 100%  100%
INEOS Mexico SdeRL de CV......coeeevnueene Mexico Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Bio USA LLC....oooeiiiiriircetitnetsrcsrcsiineseereaee United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS New Planet BioEnergy LLC........ccccuvvievnmieiriiienin ‘United States Ordinary 80% 80%
INEOS Melamines LLC......u.ureererenreseercsreremsesesssssssnssnens © United States ~ Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics US LLC......cc.ooiiiiiiiiiicicnnecie s United States Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS ABS (UK) Limited........ceerrereveerrevesrerseeessensessensenes UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Bio Holdings LAMted. ..... ... rveeereeereermsicsmssnsesnnnes UK Ordinary 80% 80%
INEOS Bio Limited.......oceeevirrvenrernennnirnereriareesanesersansnnes UK Ordinary 80% 80%
INEOS Bio Resources Limited..........ccvovrerircnenccnscncnencnne UK Ordinary 80% 80%
INEOS ChloroToluenes Limited...........coovvimmieeiniinreienens UK Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS ChloroToluenes Belgium NV.....ooiniiiiiinrinninne Belgium ~ Ordimary 100% 100%
INEOS ChloroToluenes Holdings BV.......ccccoceemviivviineinnnnns Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Maastricht BV......cco..oioiiiiniiccirecicninces e Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Healthcare Holdings Limited........cc.cocoveumerriiiiinannnns UK Ordinary - 80% 80%
INEOS Healtheare Limited.........cc.occeeenericiiniinsniosioienens UK Ordinary 80% 80%
INEOS Melamines GmbH... Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Melamines Pte Ltd.........ccccocovniiiiiniiininnininnnnns Singapore Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics European Holding B.V........ccoocvvvinnnnn. Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics Holding France S.AS.......ccocoicniniininnnas France Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics RIbécourt S.A.S...........voveovrreressrmersenns France Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics Wingles S.A.S.............. France Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics Kimyasal Urunler L.S........coovvrerimiiiinnn Turkey Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics Manufacturing GmbH.... Germany Ordmary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics Germany GmbH...............ocuevereurerconrnnens Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics Netherlands B.V....c..ccoccnnninnnnniinnnennens Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics Services B.V.......cocviininiiciiinninnn. P Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics Kimyasal Urunler L.S.......cccovnninvinriinnen Turkey Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics UK Limited..........ccoeeverireenirneniiinnininnenns UK Ordinary 100% 100%
" INEOS Styrenics GmbH..........cccooiviiiiiiiiinncinieins Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrenics International S.A.....c.coereeruceccniivccnircsiennne Switzerland Ordinary . 100% 100%
INEOS Upstream Limited.........cc.coccviriorerninmioniniiinnininns UK Ordinary 100% -
INEOS Vinyls Holdings Italia S.r.l. c.ocovevniiviniiiiiiniviens Italy Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Films Halia S.£.6. weo.vveemeeveeneveoneeremeeeressessensrcrasins Ttaly Ordinary 100% 100%
INEOS Styrolution Holding GmbH...........occocoiiiininiinnn. Germany Ordinary 100% -
Styrolution Holding GmbH............. rereareaeasensaneseneas [P Germany Ordinary 100% -

41



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

11. INVESTMENTS (continued)

11b. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

Country of Class of ] Ownership
incorporation  shares held 2014 2013
Styrolution Beteiligungs GmbH Germany Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Group GmbH............ Germany - Ordinary 100%
Styrolution (Jersey) Limited..... Jersey Ordinary 100%
Styrolution (Thailand) Co., Ltd Thailand Ordinary 100%
Styrolution ABS (India) Ltd..........c..cuee. RSN v India Ordinary 15%
Styrolution Koeln GmbH...........cccoovvvivininniiniiiiinieeinn, . Germany Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Belgium N. V..o, Belgium Ordinary 100%
Styrolution do Brasil Polimeros Ltda.........cc..cccocvvvienieninnne Brazil Ordinary 100%
Styrolution France S.A.S......cccovviiiinniinninnn SRR France Ordinary 100%
Styrolution GMbH..........cccccvivniiniininniiiie s Germany Ordinary 100%
~ Styrolution Belgium N.Ve.c..ocovriniiiciiiciin, e - Belgium Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Kimyasal Urunler Ticaret Limited....................... Turkey Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Schwarzheide GmbH.............ccccooviiviiiininnnne. Germany Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Holding Company.........c.cecoeveniiinnerniricenieniennens Mauritius Ordinary 100%
Styrolution India Pv. Ltd.....c..ooviniinniiiiiiiiiniiiie. India Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Iberia, S.L........cccoeieerniinninniinniniieniinineeeenns " Spain Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Industries US LLC......c.coccnviiininiinneniieniennnn, United States Ordinary 100%
Styrolution America LLC............ United States Ordinary 100%
INEOS Styrenics Receivables Company‘ LLC.. United States Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Canada Limited............ . Canada Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Industries US II LLC.... United States Ordinary 100%
Styrolution America LLC......... United States Ordinary 100%
Styrolution International S.A.......c.coooviiiiiiniiin Switzerland Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Italia S.r.L.....ccccoovvniiiinni Italy Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Kimyasal Urunler Ticaret Limited..............ce....... Turkey Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Korea Ltd..........cccovviiiiiiiiiiiniiiiiee, Korea Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Mexicana S.A. de C.V........cooveereiniiirniiinnnens ‘Mexico Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Netherlands B.V........ccoooeniinoniniiiiniiinin, Netherlands Ordinary 100%
Styrolution OO0 .......coociiiiiiniiirire e Russian Federation Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Poland Sp. 2.0.0.....cccocureviiiniiininiiiieienn Poland - Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Polimeros de Mexico S.A. de C.V........cccueueenes Mexico Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Services SAS.........coovevviviiniieiiiiiniieiee e France Ordinary -100%
Styrolution Servicios S.A. de C.V......ccccvnirinninnninninnee, Mexico Ordinary 100%
Styrolution South East Asia Pte. Ltd...........cccooinnnnnnilin Singapore Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Sweden AB.........cccocviviiiiiiiiniii Sweden Ordinary 100%
Styrolution Vietnam Co Ltd ........coverviiiiiiiiniciieniieennn Vietnam Ordinary 100%
Styrolution UK Limited........... UK ' Ordinary 100%
Styrolution US Holding LLC.......oocovvviviinminiiiiiieiecne United States Ordinary 100%
Styrolution USA LLC.......cocoviininiiniriiiieireeiececee, " United States Ordinary 100%

*Held directly by the Company as at 31 December 2014.
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12. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
2014 2013
€m
Non-current
Available for sale fINANCIAL ASSELS....uuieeriirvrrreiieiiieeeeeireiiiorereetererraseeeeaaeeesesrrrsssrranes 4.0 4.0
4.0 4.0

Available for sale financial assets

Available for sale financial assets relate to a 5.43% investment in Accsys Technologies plc, a company
registered in the UK whose principal activity is the development, commercialization and licensing of
technology for the manufacture of Accoya wood, Tricoya wood elements and related acetylation
technologies. '

13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Recognised deferreh tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

2014
- Assets Liabilities Total
) €m
Property, plant and equipment...........cooveuiiiiiiiiiee s . - (184.7) (184.7)
Intangible ASSets......covririeniireeree e ' - (280.9) (280.9)
Employee benefits............o....... rrerree e e e SR 37.1 - 37.1
Tax value of loss carry-forwards...............cc.... eeemerereterer ettt s setes . 229 - 22.9
OHHETS. ...covenieeeietet et et e te e s sebesesen et eseebesesacase e e anaaeseaenbeseanan - (5.9 (5.9
Tax (assets)/liabilities 60.0 @471.5) (411.5)
Set Off OF £AX 1ovevererereieeiciriririvieieasieaesrarersraannserersnnsantrnsasnsnsssasaraeanasanarars {60.0) -60.0 -
Net tax assets/(liabilities) _ - (411.5) {411.5)
2013
Assets Liabilities Total
€m
Property, plant and equipment ......c...cocovnen. eeieeeraeeeesebaeeeeasneaseenraenenre - (1.4) Q1.4)
Intangible assets.........ocivmeeiininiinin e, e - (3.6) (3.6)
Employee benefits .......oooevvrireiiciiniee et 16.0 - 16.0
OHHET.c.vveeeteeeecoretesbesen e esaaessese s e st ass et s es et e s a s ae st e eaen venee 1.5 - 1.5
Tax (assets)/liabilities . 175 - (5.0 12.5
Set Off Of AR ttevvcirieericiciiiiiiirirrir et {5.0) 50 - -
Net tax assets/(liabilities) 12.5 - 12.5
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13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Movement in deferred tax during the year

Tax value

of loss
Property, carry-
plant and  Intangible Employee forward
equipment assets benefits utilised Other Total.
€m
At 1 January 2013 ............... ‘ 0.3 “@.2) 15.9 - .- 12.0
Recognised n profit or loss (W) 0.6 0.7 - 1.5 1.1
- Recognised in other comprehensive income . - - 0.7y . - - 0.7
Exchange adjustments........occveieeivinniinnne . - - 0.1 - - - 0.1
At 31 December 2013 ..o (1.4) (3.6 16.0 - 1.5 12.5
Recognised in profit or 1088 ....ccveeriieieciennne 17.3 0.6 54 229 23 377
Recognised in other comprehensive income . - - 4.5 - .- 4.5
Acquisition through business combination..... (189.5) 779) - 22.0 - (12.9) © (458.3)
Exchange adjustments..........cceveeieerininnnnnn. (11.1) - - - 32 (7.9)
At 31 December 2014 ..covvcinncvenssnnnseae {184.7) (280.9) 37.1 22.9 (5.9 (411.5)

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through
future taxable profits is probable based on an assessment of expected future profits modelled against the
gross tax losses available over a period of 10 years. The Group did not recognise gross deductible
temporary differences of €19.6 million (2013: €40.8 million).

The Group has not provided deferred tax in relation to temporary differences on its overseas subsidiaries

or joint ventures as the Group can control the timing and realisation of these temporary differences, and
it is probable that no material unprovided tax liability would arise.

14. INVENTORIES.

2014 2013
€m.
RAW MALETIAIS. 1eereriueeeeiereeiiiireeetereesseitireeeesesoatrreeesessnareeesessarsnsseessissnbseseessossrrsessens 174.5 30.4
WOTK Il PTOGIESS . ..evveverereneereeeseeseasestesessesesseressesessesassasasssnsasenens e 204.7 . 1.0
Finished goods................. e eete e thee e bt e r e eeere e n e e Rt ne bt s et e et e e eRb s teteesa b e st se R e sasaeenn 202.0 44.7

581.2 ° 76.1°

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods recognised as cost of sales in the year amounted to
€1,082.7 million (2013: €664.4 million). The net write-down of inventories to net realisable value
amounted to €19.6 million (2013: €6.8 million) after the reversal of prev1ous write downs of €9.1
million (2013: €0.1 rml]lon)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2014

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Current

Trade 18CIVADIES. ....cceviuiiiiiiiiiiiiie et ettt ee et e
Amounts due from related Parties...........ooevviiriimimiiiiiiiiriiiiciee e
Other fCEIVADIES.....evvrrreruiiiitiiiir i e cetteicriibt e s ssssesesesenesesenas
Prepayments and accrued NCOME. . .........eerreemeeieriiiiciiiie e eetees e e eceentee s erabe e snmees

Non-current

Amounts due from related parties..........ccceeevrinnennenns .....................................
Prepayments and accrued iNCOME..........cccceiiiiviiiiiiiiimniinieinnciiiiie e s
Other rECEIVADIES...c.coeeuuriieeeiieiiieiitie e ettt ee et ce e e st e eeaeeeeemree e smneesesras e

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment losses

The ageing of trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting period was:

2014

2014 2013
€m

621.4 84.1
54.8 56.6
84.1 44.4
38.9 0.3
799.2 185.4
78.3 443
0.4 -
42 -
82.9 443

Trade receivables

Amounts due from
related parties

Other receivables

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment Gross Impairment

€m
Not past due .......cocovvveerinen 612.5 - 133.1 84.5 -
Past due 0-30 days .............. 8.3 - - 3.4 -
. Past due 31-90 days ............ 0.8 (0.5) - 0.1 -
More than 90 days .............. 4.8 4.5) - 0.3 -
626.4 C (5.0) 133.1 88.3 -

2013

. Amounts due from
Trade receivables related parties Other receivables

Gross Impairment Gross Impairment Gross © Impairment
€m
Not past due ........ccoveerrrrecen 77.8 - 54.2 44 .4 .
Past due 0-30 days .............. 59 - - . .
Past due 31-90 days ............ 0.4 - - - -
More than 90 days .............. - - 46.7 - .
84.1 - 100.9 44.4 -

The accounts receivable not yet due after impairment losses as of the end of the reporting period are
deemed to be collectible on the basis of established credit management processes such as regular
analyses of the credit worthiness of our customers and external credit.checks where appropriate for new
customers (see Note 22.c). At 31 December 2013 and 2014 there were no significant trade, related party

or other receivable balances not past due that were subsequently impaired.
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment:

Total
€m
“Balance at 1 January 2013 ........oc.ovveveereeseeereeeesessssseeesesssnsnesaenns e R
Impairment loss released ...........ccccceeenienenn ettt ettt n et srebe e e . -
Allowance made in the Period ...t -
Balance at 31 December 2013 . esesesaesassnstsessesesese . -
Impairment 108S TEIEASEd ..........evereevreereurrireirieieteeteere e aeaeens e -
Allowance made in the Period .............oooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 5.0
Balance at 31 December 2014 .......cccoeueeeee : 5.0

The allowance account for trade receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is
satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the amounts considered
irrecoverable are written off against the trade receivables dlrectly

There were no allowances made against amounts due from other receivables during the years ended 31
December 2014 and 2013.

There were no allowances made against amounts due from related partled during the years ended 31
December 2014 and 2013.

16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and

‘borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to
interest rate and foreign currency risk, see Note 22.

2014 2013

€m
Non-current liabilities .
Securtisation factHtes.......cocoreeeiieriiiiie e re s s eseseneseresnaeseees RN 273.3 - 63.6
Bond MACNIUTE. ....oevveeeneiree e atararssrsrnrrrrrrssr e reaetesesereesnetereessantenerererosssassan 45.9 <423
First Hen term 108N Bo.......ooiiiiiiieiiiieiecesceeeeieceessinreeeeessssnsaseseseesssnsessransnnarearesasnananaeas 1,035.2 -
Second lien PIK toggle loan ' 200.0 -
Finance lease Hability..........ccovviiiiinniniiriirirecieete et : 78 -
' 1,562.2 105.9
Current liabilities
Securitisation faCilitIes.........ovvurereuriiietineieiier e et 31.8 -
BONA MIACIIUTE. ...evnveesleeeereeereereeeesaeaesseessnessnsassessssesasesessaesssosssesonseosstensessssresasssntesssss 2.1 18
OthEr J0INS. ....cceeiveeeeerereviririee erereraeseseaes s arsetresessssnressesarererasessserosssarssssseraranarororare 25.6 -
Finance 16ase Hability.....c..oveeceriricerieienriniiiaiiietne s s rasne e sasb e s v asessassens 02
59.7 1.8

46



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued) -
Gross debt and issue costs

2014

Gross . Net loans
loans and and
borrowings _Issue costs _borrowings

€m
Securitisation facilities........cocvvvrreeeeerirciorcrererinininerannnn etreee e sraneas 305.4 (0.3) 305.1
Bond indenture......coceocrinneniiiicinninns ettt e s et ra s e re s n s 51.2 (3.2) . 480
First ien term 10an B....coooviiiiiiciiceceirce 1,069.6 (34.4) 1,035.2
Second tien PIK toggle 10an......ccccceuiurieiicnriniinrecncciisiiise e 200.0 . 200.0
Other Joans........vviieiiieiiiiirieteenricsre e iearse s e teasbns s e ressrsnananssaessssarane . 25.6 - 25.6
Finance 16ase Hability........cc.ovuriveruerseiersimesiensessessasesesesesesessssasacsossasnesees 8.0 - 8.0
‘ 1,659.8 (37.9) 1,621.9
2013
Gross Net loans
foans and and
borrowings _Issue costs  borrowings
€m
Securitisation faciliies.........ccvverieriieiieiiniririrer e - 64.4 {0.8) 63.6
Bond indenture.........c.ooomvivieirericiiinicininenene rareraresssssnenstatsasssarasacntasasnes 47.1 (3.0) 44.1
' 111.5 (3.8) 107.7
Terms and debt repayment schedule .
Nominal Year of

Currency interest rate maturity .

Securitisation fACIIHES. ......uvuuureirerernrririeensesesesnrnnnnnanneenestsesesesenrarareeseasaras USD/Euro  '1.5%-2.25%  2018-2019 ‘
Bond MAEntULE. .....cccceieiivrrreeeecreraeereaeaeseararseaeseasessesesaesesosnesrsrassesaess UsD Libor + 4% 2031
EURIBOR/
First lien term 10an B.....cccoovcmeiiriciiiiniiiini s s sninees s USD LIBOR
) USD/Euro + 550 bps 2019
Second lien PIK toggle 10an.......coevieiiiriiniviniriniriinrenicseircirene e Euro 9.5% 2020

Receivables Securitisation Facilities

The Group has three receivables securitisation facilities (which are secured on certain trade receivables
of the Group). The Styrolution securitisation facility is a €500.0 million facility which matures in
March 2019. The total amount outstanding at 31 December 2014 was €251.0 million. The INEOS ABS
securitisation facility is a $50.0 million facility which matures in August 2019. The total amount
outstanding at 31 December 2014 was €22.3 million (2013: €24.6 million). The INEOS Styrenics
securitisation facility is a €60.0 million facility which matured in June 2015. The total amount
outstanding at 31 December 2014 was €31.8 million (2013: €39.0 million). In June 2015 this facility
was reduced to €50.0 million and extended to June 2018.

Bond Indenture

INEOS Bio US LLC, an 80% owned subsidiary has outstanding borrowings of €48.0 million (2013:
_€44.1 million) under a bond indenture, of which €2.1 million (2013: €1.8 million), is due within one

year. The bonds are guaranteed by the US Department of Agriculture. The bonds bear interest at LIBOR
. plus 4.0% per annum and mature in 2031. The bond is stated net of debt issue costs of €3.2 million
(2013: €3.0 million). These costs are allocated to the income statement over the term of the bond.
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16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
Senior Secured Term Loan ' '

" The Group has borrowings undér a first lien term loan B of approximately €1.05 billion with
institutional investors. The borrowings consist of Euro and US Dollar tranches of €525.0 million and
$662.5 million, respectively, each with a maturity of five years and variable interest at
EURIBOR/LIBOR with a floor of 1.0 percent + 550 basis points. Styrolution Group GmbH and
Styrolution US Holding LLC are the borrowers and the loans are secured by first liens over the assets of
Styrolution Group GmbH and with subsidiaries.

PIK Toggle Loan

The Group has a second lien PIK toggle loan from INEOS Holdings Limited, a related party, to
Styrolution Holding GmbH of €200 million with a fixed interest rate of 9.5 percent when paid in cash
(or, in case the Total Net Debt Leverage of Styrolution Holding GmbH exceeds 3.25 * LTM EBITDA,
10.25 percent ' when accumulated or paid-in-kind).

Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

2014
Minimum
lease
payments Interest Principal

€m
LeSS thaN ONE YEAT ....ovureeereeeeiiacteecsenesenmentesssssrecssesssecsessssessaressssenns 05 0.3) - 0.2
Between one and five Years .......cccovviiiiiiiiiiiiin e 1.4 (1.3) 0.1
More than five years ....... e eeeererr ettt ae e b en st e bbb s re e e neees 12.2 4.5) 7.7

14.1 6.1) 8.0

17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2014 2013

€m
Current ) X
Trade payables.............. G senes e saenees O SR 487.4 58.5
Trade payables due to related parties..........ooovveerieiieiinnnni s 241.0 185.7
Other payables........ccccvnniiiiiniinirse s pesneeens 232.0 21.8
Accruals and deferred INCOME.......ccveimiiimirininriince ittt s 214.6 40.8
1,175.0 306.8
Non-current :
~ Trade payables due to related parties........c.ococeceeieenninnee. rerererirare et et s as s e ne 194.7 67.9

Other payables.......cooviiiiiiririiniriiireiii e b aea e ans 16.9 20.7
Accruals and deferred income.......covovirririreniniiiniinenreieeee, ereebeeenaneneanenans . 55.6 54.6

267.2 1432
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS

Pension plans

The Group operates a number of pension and post-reﬁrement medical plans throughout the world,
devised in accordance with local conditions and practices. The plans are generally of the defined benefit
type and those that are funded are done so by payments to separately administered funds or insurance

companies. The principal funded plans are in Canada, the United States and Germany. '

The Group also operates a number of unfunded defined benefit pension schemes in Thailand and
Germany and unfunded post-retirement medical plans in Canada and the United States.

Country Valuation date

Belgium 31 December 2014
Canada* 31 December 2014
France 31 December 2014
Germany** 31 December 2014
The Netherlands 31 December 2014
Korea 31 December 2014
Mexico 31 December 2014
Switzerland 31 December 2014
Thailand . 31 December 2014
United States 01 January 2014

*Except for Retirement Plan for Salaried Employees in Canada which was based on a roll forward from
a full valuation as at 1 January 2014.

**Except for Germany (2085) plans which were based on a roll forward from a full valuation as at 31

. December 2013.

The Grbup’s pension schemes have been disclosed on a geographical basis as those schemes in Europe,
North America and the Rest of the World.

The European pension arrangements are a mix of final salary, career average, unit benefit and cash
balance plans in nature, and the majority are closed to new entrants. The majority of the plans are
funded via insurance policies and there are also a number of unfunded German plans with associated
provisions held on the Group’s balance sheet.

The North American pension arrangements consist of three funded plans in the United States, (all of
which are closed to future accrual) and two funded plans in Canada (one of which is closed to new
entrants and the other to future accrual). All pension plans, except one, are final salary defined benefit in
nature, and the plans’ liabilities are valued regularly in line with statutory funding requirements. Across
all five plans, between 80% and 90% of the plans’ assets are invested in bond instruments, to closely
match the profile of each plans’ liabilities. There are also three unfunded post-retirement medical plans
in the US and one in Canada.

The Rest of the World pension arrangements are comprised of the Group s pensnon plans in South
Korea, Mexico and Thailand.

49
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension plan assumptions

‘The principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages or ranges) at the year-end were as
follows: :

European North America Rest of the world

2014 , 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Major assumptions:
Rate of general increase
in salaries..........oocoviieienneens ' 2.76% 2.50%-3.00% ° 3.30% 3.50% 5.05% 3.50%
Rate of increase to pensions .
iN Payments.......ocoeeeeeeeinneen 0.00%-1.75% 0.00%-2.00% 0.50% 0.00% 0.00% 0.00%
Discount rate for scheme .
liabilthies. . ...eeeeveeeesnsinneenranne 221% 2.25%-3.75% 3.75% 4.50% 4.06% 4.50%

Inflation..........cccoovviinnninnnns 1.77% 1.50%-2.00% 2.15% 2.50% 3.34% 2.50%

The assumptibns relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the reporting date are based
on standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity.
The assumptions are equivalent to expecting a 65-year old to live for a number of years as follows:

European North America Rest of the world
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Longevity at age 65 for
current pensioners............... 19.2-23.0 18.7-25.0 _ 20.5-22.7 19.6-21.3 15.8-18.9 -

The following table presents the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to each significant actuarial
. assumption:

2014
 European North America Rest of the world
%
Discount rate: 1.0% decrease... 24.89 ] 15.37 8.22
Rate of inflation: 0.5% increase - 9.56 . 2.03 0.83
1 year increase in longevity for . . .
a member aged 65....... JURSN 2.21 1.84 : 0.19

The sensitivity to the inflation assumption change includes corresponding changes to the future salary
increase and future pension increase assumptions where these assumptions are set to be linked to the
inflation assumption :
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continﬁed)
Post-retirement health care plans

The Group also operates a number of post-retirement healthcare plans in the United States, which
provide employees with other post-employment benefits in respect of health care. The plans are
unfunded and the liability in respect of these benefits is included in provisions. The liability is assessed
by qualified independent actuaries under the projected unit method, assuming the following rates:

2014 2013
%
'Liability discount rate................. eeeeaesresseseesirttnn——..nnnieasreeesssseneseeteneteeetioetiateeieseerieeieniassins 3.75 ) 4.50
Long-term medical trend Fate.........oveeieeeiieeiiiien s . 488 5.00
History of plans
The history of the plans for the current and prior years is as follows:
Consolidated balance sheet
2014 2013
€m
Present value of the defined benefit obligation in respect of pension plans.. 231.3 60.7
Present value of obligations in respect of post-retirement health care plan.. 22.9 7.8
Fair value of plan assets.............. reereennennae tete et et b ettt b et bbbt n e (149.9) (17.3)
Deficit 104.3 51.2
The Group’s net liability in respect of defined benefit obligations is as follows:
2014 2013
€m
. Obligations in respect of pension plans:
European............. e e et e e e s s bt ae e e P 145.8 44.5
North America... 77.3 16.2
ReSt Of WOII....uvniiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiic it e e e 8.2 -
Total obligations in respect of pension plans - 231.3 60.7
Obligations in respect of post-retirement health care plans -22_9 7.8
' Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations : . 254.2 68.5

The Group expects to contribute approximately €4.7 million to its funded defined benefit plans in the
next financial year. This excludes direct company benefit payments and payments in relation to
unfunded defined benefit plan schemes.
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)'

Consolidated income statement .
Post-
retirement
North health care
European America plans Total
€m .
Year ended 31 December 2014 ) )
CUITENT SEIVICE COSE ..vevrnreeeiaerreeeneseesensesessenessensesessassasensessesas ' 23 0.1 0.2 2.6
Past SETVICE COSE ...vuruiriiieieitercierer e rare st se s s s eanar s 0.2 - - 0.2
Settlement gamns .........oceeene - - - -
Cost of termination benefits ......c.ccccveiveiinnes .- - - -
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation. ... - 1.7 0.9 ‘0.4 3.0
Interest iNCOME ON ASSELS...ooreeveeerrerinieririreiirie e (0.3) (0.8) - (1.1)
AdJUStIEnts O MHETESE COSt......vvrverrerrrmrerseersessssenessesrasessareses - 0.1 - 0.1
3.9 0.3 0.6 4.8
Post-
retirement
North health care
European America plans Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2013
Current SErvICe COSE ..verrereirrerensiirieecesnienenaes aeretrns et 1.8 0.1 0.4 23
Past SETVICE COSt vuuverererreerrircrrermnsosresriessssissssssosnsessnsrsensnssnes 5.6 - (6.0) ©0.4)
Settlement gans ........ooceviiieniiciiiniin e s - - - .
Cost of termination benefits.........ccoeveeivireiciciiiiineeeiereeienneseenanns - - - -
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation...................... 1.2 0.6 0.6 2.4
Interest INCOME ON ASSEIS......oveereierirsereissnesiinnsiererserseressessssneas (0.2) 0.5) - 0.7
: 3.4 0.2 (5.0) 3.6

The expense is recognised in the following line items in the consolidated income statement:

2014 - 2013
€m
Cost of sales, distribution and administrative cxpcnses‘ ............................................................ 2.8 1.9
INEU FIANICE COSL.u.vvuivnrurruessessresssessessesssesssssssesssesssssaeseetssessesessstssesstnsese e sesessesueseressessassnes 2.0 1.7
‘ ' 4.8 3.6

Pension plans

As at 31 December 2014

Present value of funded obligations
Present value of unfunded obligations....

- Fair value of plan assets........cccoconimieiiiiinceiiiinicies
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North Rest of the -

European America world Total
€m
105.1 77.3 7.2 189.6
40.7 - 1.0 41.7.
145.8 77.3 8.2 231.3
{64.6) (79.3) (6.0) (149.9)
81.2 (2.0) 2.2 81.4




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2014

‘

18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension plans (continued)

North Rest of the

Furopean  America world Total
€m
As at 31 December 2013
Present value of funded obligations............ceccevevueiereecneenreennene © 9.6 16.2 - 25.8-
Present value of unfunded obligations 349 - - 34.9
. 44.5 16.2 - 60.7
Fair value of plan assets.........cccovvvimiiiiiniceiiineinieiecsiieeenns (4.8) (12.5) - (17.3) -
' 39.7 3.7 - 43.4
Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation:
North Rest of the
European America world Total
€m
At 1 January 2013 ... : 373 17.5 - 54.8
Current SETVICE COSE «vvermeiericinicriiirtiieiereierese e srressaresssnessnane 1.8 0.1 - 1.9
Past SErVICE COSt c.veviiiiiiiiiiiriiieri e 5.6 - - 5.6
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation............... 1.2 0.6 - 1.8
Member contributions ..........ocveeesueveuecreonas 0.3 - - 03
Actuarial loss (gain) - eXperience ..........cocceveerucnenes -t (1.7 0.1 - (1.6)
Actuarial loss (gain) — demographic assumptions .... - 0.2 - 0.2
Actuarial loss (gain) - financial assumptions .......... (0.3) 1.1) - {(1.4)
Disbursements from plan assets .......ccocoeevenee (0.1) (1.3) - 14
Disbursements paid directly by the employer .. (0.5) (0.2) - (0.7)
DiSPOSALS ..ecvuriniiieeiriee et b e e e en (3.8) - - 3.9
Other............. 4.8 1.0 - 5.8
EBRChaNGE ....covviiniiriiniiniriiiririrsrensne e ssesir s e saneanns 0.1 0.7 - {0.8)
At 31 December 2013 44.5 " 162 - 60.7
Current SETVICE COSE ...v.vvirrreriiiirircrrinrirrrieeesenesrrevssnesssnes 2.2 0.1 0.1 24
Past SETVICE COSL....veterrnrirrricriiirninerionireerariesonerevsanevarsvssressnas 0.2 - - 0.2
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation........c.cccoceruiiurininnnns 1.7 0.9 - 2.6
Member contributions ........ccveeererernrscecicrecscse et reresaaas 0.3 - - 03
Actuarial loss (gain) - €XpErience .......coovceereiecveirinnienir e 0.5 0.1) ©.1) 0.3
Actuarial loss (gain) — demographic assumptions ..........c.cceeeeueene 0.2 - - 0.2
Actuarial loss (gain) — financial assumptions .......... 17.3 2.4 - 19.7
Disbursements from plan assets .......cc.occeeueenes - (0.9) (.1) (1.0)
Disbursements paid directly by the employer .. (1.3) 0.2 0.1 (1.4)
Acquisttions........cceevvceeviecrnans 80.6 53.8 7.9 1423
Exchange ......ocovvrivieciiiiciincnirsce s R A . (0.4) 5.1 0.3 5.0-
At 31 December 2014 . 145.8 77.3 8.2 231.3
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
_Movements in fair value of plan assets:

North Rest of the

European America- world Total .
€m
At 1 January 2013 ... 6.1 13.5 - 19.6
Interest income on plan assets ................ eearrseaesraeaaeaes 0.2 0.5 - 0.7
Retum on plan assets greater /(less) than discount rate ..... ' (0.8) 0.7 - (1.5)
Employer contributions .........c.coveieniiienenniesincaeneanes 2.6 0.4 - 30
Member contributions ..... . 03 - - - 0.3
Disbursements ............ (0.6) (1.5) . @.1)
Disposals ...... (2.6) - - 2.6)
Other.......... 0.3) 0.8 - 0.5
BXChaNEE ...ocvevietviriiriiineiinnc e sene e . . (0.1) (0.5) - (0.6)
At 31 December 2013 4.8 12.5 - 17.3
Interest income on plan assets ........ccocenmiiieiisinininieiea 0.3 0.8 - 1.1
Return on plan assets greater /(less) than discount rate ............... 2.1 19 0.1 4.1
Employer contributions ........ccccevviriviiriininicnnninnn. et 5.4 0.8 0.1 6.3
Member contributons .....cocveeicreiecrreienneeecreenesraaesnsens e 0.3 - 0.1 0.4
Disbursements .....cc.cceenviernneinieienicianas seetseinsesessss s nsirsens 1.2) 1y 0.2) - (2.5)
ACQUISIHONS.....vovretereeriiaennieneae et re et ereresae s s saas 53.0 59.7 5.9 118.6
Bxchange ......cocvviiiiiiiniciici s rereeaee (0.1) C 47 0.0 4.6
At 31 December 2014 64.6 79.3 6.0 . 149.9

The overall expected rate of return is calculated by weighting the individual rates in accordance with the
anticipated balance in the plan’s investment portfolio. *

The fair value of the plan assets.and the return on those assets were as follows:

North Rest of the

Furopean America world Total
€m
As at 31 December 2014
BQUILIES. v v ever e eeeeeeeeeeeseeesseseese s se s esesse s esessenns 222 9.3 0.6 32.1
(07111 RO OO USSP PP PPPTTTON 42.3 70.1 5.4 117.8
Total plan assets 64.5 79.4 6.0 149.9

North Rest of the

European America world Total
€m

As at 31 December 2013
Cash and cash equivalents 0.1 ’ - 0.1
BQUILIES. ... vevrveverevesesessessesessessssesesssessessessaesessassssasases 1.4 2.4 - - 38
Bonds: :

~ Corporate bonds..........ccccccnienniiiinnn, s w 0.4 - 0.4

— Governement bonds...........coveecuvererrreiriinieeneeenniirieeene s 3.2 0.3 - 3.5
— Other BONdS.......uveveererniimreeeeniereeeeeesenrrrereeesreenereesssssinens - ) 9.3 - 9.3
OUNET.....oooevveeesvoeeeee s ssss st seres 0.2 - - 0.2
Total plan assets » 4.8 12.5 - 17.3
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

There are no plans which hold investments in the Group’s own financial instruments, or hold assets or
property which are used by the Group.

Post-retirement health care plans

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities:

2014 2013
€m
At 1January ......cccoeeeeeveenveenneennees ettt r s et r e 7.8 14.7
CUITENE SEIVICE COSE covvunrreirrraiererenrerrrseserressneerreereetessssessssssssessssssesennesesennssesssersossssnmnsre 0.2 0.4
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation............c.cccocuuuneeeis eeeeeerteerririreeerbearaaaennnranneraas 0.4 0.6
Actuarial 10SS - EXPETIENCE ......covvviiriiiiiiiiniiiniiniiin et sreerre s e e e s ren e s sereaeaees - <01
Actuarial loss — demographic assumptions ..... ' 0.1 ’ 0.3
Actuarial gain — financial assumptions .............. 0.9 (1.6)
Disbursements directly paid by the employer .... (0.3) 0.3)
Past SEIVICE COSE ..uiiiiiiiiniiinieiie ittt e . - (6.0)
ACQUISTHON. ...ttt b e e ' 12.0 -
Exchange adjuStments .........ccooeeieiieeniiiiiine ettt 1.8 0.9)
At 31 December : : . 229 7.8

The post-retirement healthcare plans do not hold any assets.

The following table presents the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to each significant actuarial

" assumption: :
2014
%
Discount rate: 1.0% QECTEASE........cceeiiiiiirieeeeeeiiiiettte e reiibeae s e e ae et ressas et brtraessesssabnsbesssessassaeeeeesnnsarnns 12.35%
Rate of inflation: 0.5% MMCTEASE.........iieeieeiiiiieir e ecititteee et car e et e s s s s aate s e st s banasaesenasbaneee e s e naans 0.00%
1 year increase in longevity for a member currently agéd 65, ettt 1.92%
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31 DECEMBER 2014
19. PROVISIONS
Severance
and re-
Retire- structuring :
ment costs Other Total
€m

At 1 January 2013, ..o - - 3.4 34
Reclassifications .......oceeeiereieicnvieneneienerescsnnns eneereeaenreres - 8.1 - 8.1
Provision made during the period.........ccocoeemvicirneviiiiininnns - 100 8.7 18.7
Exchange adjustments.........ccocooviemniviinienrinionnnnceseesanna - - (0.1) (0.1)
At 31 December 2013, .. ‘18.1 12.0 30.1
Reclassifications ........ LSRR RRUURUURIP (4.5) 4.3) (6.0) (14.8)
Amounts arising from acquISIHONS........corveeiurerersrurererereenns - 38.0 ©79.1 117.1
Provision made during the period.........ccoorvemeimiunnenicinnnen. . 54 (11.1) 10.1 44
Provisions reversed during the period........coovvvrvviiiinninn. - @9 (5.8) 8.7)
Exchange adjustments........ccovevircriiieniianneniniennenennennen 0.2 1.0 1.0 2.2
At 31 December 2014 1.1 38.8 90.4 130.3
NON-CUITENL. ...ttt - 29 .58 8.7
Current.....ccooeerereecieennenencnnin rearaesescaeneseseie i sre s reeens - 15.2 6.2 214
At 31 December 2013...... - 18.1 12.0 30.1
NON-CUTTENt.......veverereerecere e . L1 16.1 57.4 74.6
CULTENL. ....eoninriririrerecirererercnirertrtrerere s vsan s rararseasnseseraes - 22.7 33.0 55.7
At 31 December 2014, 1.1 38.8 90.4 130.3

Severance and restructuring

The Group has provided €35.9 million (2013: €18.1 million) of severance and restructuring costs in
relation to the closure of the Marl site in Germany. These costs include €11.0 million (2013: €18.1
million) for severance payments and €24.9 million (2013: €nil) reslructurmg provisions relating to the
termination of a toll agreement after the closure of the site.

Other provisions

Included in other provision is €22.1 million (2013: €nil) related to two legal proceedings against the
Group which originate from the termination of a partnership.and alleged non-performance as a
contractual partner for certain feedstock processing contracts. During 2015 an agreement has been
reached and these disputes have been settled. '

The Group has €16.2 million (2013: €nil) of other provisions relating to two onerous contracts for a
styrene supply mainly in Asia. The provision has been estimated by management using expectations of
future market conditions until the end of the contract. Also included within other provisions in 2013 was
€2.4 million relating to an onerous contract acquired with the Styrenics business that expired in 2025;
however this onerous contract has been settled during the year.

The Group has also provided €4.7 million (2013: €8.7 million) following the closure of the Marl site in
Germany for costs associated with demolition, environmental and termination of contracts.
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20. SHARE CAPITAL

2014 2013

Fully paid
197,500 (2013: 197 500) ordmary shares of £0.00001 each..........cccceeeiiiiirevenneniiniiinnnees ' - -

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.

21. DIVIDENDS
The following dividends were recognised during the year:

2014 2013
- €m

DAVIAENA P, vevvoverveeeeeeeesesrs e esseeeeeeeesae et seresss s ss e araeseens e 4.0 -

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
22.a Fair values of financial instruments
Investments in debt and equity securities

The fair value of other investments shown as loans and receivables is estimated as the present value of
future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Available for sale financial assets are accounted for at fair value based on the present value of future
cash flows where such information is readily available based on the present value of future cash flows
estimated from financial information made available durmg the year as a result of arecent transaction in
the investment.

Trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables generally approximates to fair value due to their
short maturities. Where settlement is not due in the short term and where the effect is material, fair value
is estimated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the

" reporting date.

Trade and other payables

The carrying amount of trade and other payables generally approximates to fair value due to their short
maturities. Where settlement is not due in the short term: and where the effect is material, fair value is
estimated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the
reporting date.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated as its carrying amount where the cash is

repayable on demand. Where it is not repayable on demand then the fair value is estimated at the

present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted
at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date. The fair value of finance leases is determined by

reference to market rates for similar lease agreements. The fair value of the related party loans is the

same as the carrying value. The fair value of Securitisation facilities is the same as the carrying value.

Fair values

The fair values for each class of financial.assets and financial liabilities together with their carrying
amounts shown in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

2014 2013
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value -amount Fair value
€m

Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost: . .

Trade receivables......cviviieiiiiiiiiieciiciiciicrc e 621.4 621.4 84.1 84.1
Amounts due from related parties.........cceveriieinniiinininiinns 133.1 133.1 100.9 100.9
Other receivables........coovcieiiiciiiiinenereeseee e e eeeeeeeeenes 88.3 88.3 44 .4 44 .4
Loans and receivables 842.8 842.8 229.4 229.4
Cash and cash equivalents............ccoceusuvvrerescarsenasseseirinnene T 4041 T 4041 48.7 48.7
Total financial assets. 1,246.9 1,246.9 278.1 278.1
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost:

Trade PaVables.....cocouevveeueuecrerrereeiriesesssarerscassssraoseseracs 487.4 487.4 58.5 58.5
Other PaYAbIES........cccvruerieererereeereseeese s esesenssesesesesessiienn 248.9 248.9 425 45
Securitisation faciities............ccovveereriesrereeeseresraecrieaeseerasaens 305.1 305.1 63.6 63.6
Bond indenture........ccouvieiiieeierieierienesmiesessessssesesaeesens 48.0 43.0 441 44.1
Amaqunt due to related parties... 435.7 435.7 253.6 253.6
First ien term 1080 B ....cueeeereercerieecseeneesenssseneneseorsennens 1,035.2 1,0352 - -
Finance lease liabilities....... ereeereeretene e naneneans evvere——— 8.0 8.0 - -
Second lien PIK toggle 1oan.........cccceevevirireenceccrariveninenanen. 2000 200.0 . -
Other 10ans. ...cccuvvveveririnincrcrererernrenioeasrssesesenearsrarasarsrnnnnes 25.6 25.6 - -
Total financial liabilities. 2,793.9 2,793.9 462.3 462.3

22.b Net gains and losses from financial instruments

Net gains and losses from financial instruments comprise the results of valuations, the amortisation of
discounts, the recognition and derecognition of impairment losses, results from the translation of foreign
currencies, interest, dividends and all effects on profit or loss of financial instruments.

Net gains from receivables and loans relate primarily to recognition and derecognition of impairment
losses, results from the translation of foreign currencies and interest income.

Net losses from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost relate primarily to amortisation of
discounts, results from the translation of foreign currencies, interest expense and other financing related
expenses.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The item “financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss’ comprise valuation gains and losses,
and only includes gains and losses from instruments which are not designated as hedging instruments as

defined by IAS 39.

The following table shows the gross gains and losses during the period and on which financial
instruments they arose:

Loans and receivables

" 2014 2013
€m
Finance income............... ; ........... 8.6 3.6
Foreign exchange gains..........ccccevceicricniiiiniceninenne e e nene 7.5 0.3
Net result : 16.1 3.9
Carrying value at 31 December. 842.8 229.4

" Liabilities measured at
amortised cost

2014 2013
. €m
Finance cost.....cocvvumrrnieeniinninnne et e eteureteaeretetetebesn e st e b s aeee s eaebeneaeseae st s (45.6) (16.9)
Other fINANCE COSt....cooiiniiiiiiniiciiiecc sttt (1.3) 0.4)
Foreign exchange 10SSE8.....cc.covuiiriiirmirieiiiiieesieiii ettt sbessaesvanesss s vs s b asaseassesasans (24.3) (2.6)
Net result. . {(71.2) (19.9)
Carrying value at 31 December 2,793.9 462.3

22.c Credit risk
Financial risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises prmcxpally-from the Group’s receivables
from customers and deposits with financial institutions.

‘Group Treasury policy and objectives in relation to credit risk is to minimize the likelihood that the
Group will experience financial loss due to counterparty failure and to ensure that in the event of a
single loss, the failure of any single counterparty would not materially impact the financial wellbeing of
the Group. ' '

Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base,
including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors may
have an influence on credit risk. Management considers that there is no geographical concentration of
. credit risk. The Group has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed
individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and
conditions are offered or are adjusted accordingly. The Group’s review includes external ratings, when
available, and in some cases bank references. Purchase limits are established for each customer, which
represent the maximum open amount without requiring approval. Customers that fail to meet the
Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis.
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22, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Investments, cash and cash equivalents

Surplus cash investments are only made with banks with which the Group has a relaiionship.
Occasionally deposits are made with banking counterparties that provide financing arrangements,
reducing the credit exposure of the Group. ‘ ‘

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Therefore, the
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was the carrying amount of financial assets.

22.d Liquidity risk
Financial risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is
limited by the fact that it operates with significant cash resources, and it maintains the most appropriate
mix of short, medium and long-term borrowings from the Group’s lenders.

The Group is reliant on committed funding froma variety of sources at Group and subsidiary company
level to meet the anticipated needs of the Group for the period covered by the Group’s budget.

The Group forecasts on a regular basis the expected cash flows that will occur on a weekly and monthly
basis. This information is used in conjunction with the weekly reporting of actual cash balances at bank
in order to calculate the level of funding that will be required in the short and medium term. On a
monthly basis the level of headroom on existing facilities is reported and forecast forward until the end
of the financial year/period.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (contihued)

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest
payments and excluding the effect of netting agreements:

Non derivative financial
liabilities
Trade payables
Other payables
First lien term loan B............
Amount due to related

Bond indenture..........ccceucen
Finance lease liabilities..........
Second lien PIK toggle loan...
Other loans......c..ccccevviiinnnene

Non derivative financial
liabilities
Trade payables
'Other payables.......ccccoeeenne
Amount due to related

2to<S$

Carrying  Contractual . 1 year or Ito<2 § years and
amount cash flows less years years over
€m
4874 ' 487.4 487.4 - - -
248.9 248.9 232.0 16.9 - -
1,035.2 1,414.6 014 80.4 1,242.8 -
435.7 435.7 41.0 394.7 - -
305.1 305.1 31.8 : - 2733 -
48.0 58.9 23 2.4 8.0 46.2
8.0 14.6 0.5 0.5 14 122
200.0 314.1 17.1 19.0 57.0 221.0
25.6 25.6 25.6 - - ) -
2,793.9 3,304.9 929.1 513.9 1,582.5 279.4
2013
Carrying  Contractual 1 year or 1to<2 2to<$§ § years and
amount cash flows less years years over
€m
58.5 58.5 58.5 : - - -
425 2.5 21.8 20.7 - -
253.6 253.6 185.7 67.9 - -
63.6 63.6 - 39.0 24.6 -
44.1 53.8 1.9 2.0 6.7 432
462.3 472.0 267.9 129.6 313 43.2
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
. 22.f Market risk
Financial risk management

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will adversely affect the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities or expected future cash
- flows.

Market risk - Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar and Sterling.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, and recognised assets and liabilities.

A substantial portion of the Group’s revenue is generated in, or linked to, Sterling and the Euro.
Product prices, certain feedstock costs and most other costs are denominated in US Dollar, Sterling and
Euro. In the US petrochemical and specialty chemicals businesses, product prices, raw materials costs
and most.other costs are primarily denominated in US Dollars.

The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a
financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. When the settlement
of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the
foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item is considered to
form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and changes in the fair value are recognised directly
within equity.

The Group generally does not enter into foreign currency exchange instruments to hedge foreign
currency transaction exposure, although the Group may do so in the future.

The Group benefits from natural hedging, to the extent that currencies in which net cash flows are
generated from the Group’s operations, are matched against long-term indebtedness.

The foreign currency exposure where the Group’s financial assets/ (liabilities) are not denominated in
the functional currency of the operating unit involved is shown below. Foreign exchange differences on
retranslation of these assets and liabilities are taken to the income statement/ other comprehensive
income of the Group.

2014 2013
€m
Euro.......... e e s eE ot s e At 4 ARt e aEe e A e S e Lot s uas sauan s aRaes s bR a e s bt e s R e eeeersseneeesnerreaeenne (66.1) 19.0
US ODAIS.....evvreeeieetieeeeeieriiiieteeesesitreeeesentrreeesssnnesssssnsneessenessbesssessinsasesiosreessessssnnes (14.3) 3.9
StErling......cocuvverievmimnniieiniiireien s TN 1.4 -0.8
(01117 SR OO U UUR RO EPRRRRROt (2.2) 0.5
. (81.2) 24.2

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% percent weakening of the following currencies at 31 December would have increased/

(decreased) equity and profit/(loss) by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the
change occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date.
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22, FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular other exchange rates and interest rates,
remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the comparative period.

Equity Profit or loss.

2014 2013 2014 © 2013
€m €m

BUIO. e ettt e vt e v e e e e rnssesraaeesearaies e e rernseenns Co- - (6.6) 1.9
US dOArS.........coveeereeseeerensreensene. e, . - - (1.4 04
SErNG...vecveeiiiicie . C - - 01 0.1
Oher...ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e - - 0.2) 0.1
R R (8.1) 2.5

. A 10% percent strengthening of the above currencies against the Euro at 31 December would have had
the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all
other variables remain constant. '

Marke_t risk — Interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2014 2013
€m
Carrying amount of liability
Fixed rate instruments
FINancial @SSEL8.....c.cviriiiiiiiiiiiecten et et et ns ’ - -
Financial Habites. .....vevvreeeeemeremiiiieieieaeieieieieeeararariririesesrtssresssasssesasesssnsasmsssmsesesmsereaeaeaes (586.7) . (107.7)
) : (586.7) (107.7)

Variable rate instruments .
Financial 85Sets.....ccoceiviiirireiierreieiiieieieieieieseceneneneneseneseneans ettt a st n s - -
Financial labiliies................ OO _(1,035.2) -

- ' (1,035.2) -
Sensitivity analysis

A change of 1 % in interest rates at the balance sheet date would have increased (decreased) equity and '
-profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the
balance sheet date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant and
considers the effect of financial instruments with variable interest rates, financial instrument at fair value
through profit or loss or available for sale with fixed interest rates and the fixed rate element of interest
rate swaps. The analysis is performed on the same basis for comparative period.
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22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

2014 2013

€'000
Profit or loss
Profit/(loss) on increase in interest rates by 1%.....c.ccviiviinieniiiinniinneinnenneseesseee e, (15.4) (1.1
' (15.4) (1.1)

' Market risk — Commodity price risk .

- The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through fluctuations in raw material prices and sales of
products. The raw material exposures result primarily from the price of feedstocks and base chemicals
linked to the price of crude. The sales price exposures are primarily related to petrochemicals where

_ prices are in general linked to the market price of crude oil. '

The Group enters into contracts to supply or acquire physical volumes of commodities at future dates
during the normal course of business that may be considered derivative contracts. Where such contracts
exist and are in respect of the normal purchase or sale of products to fulfil the Group’s requirements, the
own use exemption from derivative accounting is applied. '

The Group manages commodity price exposures through trading refined products and chemical
feedstock and using commodity swaps, options and futures as a means of managing price and timing

risks. In 2014 there were no significant instruments entered by the Group to manage such risk.

The Group operates within procedures and policies designed to ensure that risks, including those
relating to the default of counterparties, are minimised.

22.g Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capltal are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue :r‘] '1 oomg .
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to wdintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. ' W

The Group defines its capital employed of €2,182.2 million at 31 December 2014 as shareholders’ funds
of €964.4 million and net debt (net of debt issue costs) of €1,217.8 million.

The principal sources of debt available to the group at 31 December 2014 include loans from related
parties are described in Note 16 along with the key operating and financial covenants that apply to these
facilities. '

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt or sell assets to reduce debt. The ability of the Group to
pay dividends and provide appropriate facilities to the Group is restricted by the terms of principal
financing agreements to which members of the Group are party.
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23. OPERATING LEASES

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

2014 2013
€m
Less than one year ........cocveviivieitieiinirineentitiinsre e errevereresnrenia e 20.9 1.0
Between one and five years ............ et et 51.4 2.2
More than five YEars ......ovioiriiirroniiniii e 4.9 1.7
g 117.2 49

The Group leases a number of warehouse factory facilities and rail.cars under operating leases. The
leases typically run for a period of 5 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease
payments are increased every five years to reflect market rentals. Some leases provide for additional
rent payments that are based on changes in a local price index.

24. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Outstanding capital expenditure authorised by the Board and for which contracts had been placed as at
31 Decem_ber 2014 by the Group amounted to approximatgly €64 million (2013: €1.7million).

25. RELATED PARTIES

Related party transactions

Related parties comprise:

e INEOS AG;
.o Entities controlled by the shareholders of INEOS AG, the ultimate parent company of INEOS
Industries Limited; and '
e Joint ventures.

Mr J A Ratcliffe, Mr A C Currie and MrJ Reece are the shareholders of INEOS AG. The Group has a

management services agreement with INEOS AG. INEOS AG owns a controlling interest in the share
capital of INEOS Industries Limited. Management fees of €nil million (2013: €5.0 million) were
charged in the year. During the year the Group was charged a deal fee of €10.0 million in relation to the
acquisition of the Styrolution business. At 31 December 2014 amounts owed to INEOS AG were €27.8
million (2013: €12.5 million). .

There were a number of transactions with related parties, all of which arose in the normal course of
business. The Group has made sales to related parties of €34.1 million (2013: €0.4 million), recovered
costs of €10.3 million (2013: €nil) and made purchases of €4.6 million (2013: €nil). At 31 December
2014 €635.7 million (2013: €253.6 million) was owed to related parties and €133.1 million (2013:

- €100.9 million) was owed by related parties.

Compenéation to key management personnel (including directors)

The Group defines key management as the directors of the Company. Details of Directors’
remuneration are given in Note 6.
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| 26. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLINC PARTY

The immediate and ultimate parent undertaking at 31 December 2014 was INEOS AG, a company
registered in Switzerland. )

The directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe to be the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majority
shareholding in INEOS AG. '

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 11 October, 2015 the Group agreed to purchase UK North Sea natural gas assets from a UK
subsidiary of DEA Deutsche Erdoel AG, which is part of the LetterOne Group.

28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, which require
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the
accounting policies, and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates change and in any
future periods. )

The following areas are considered to involve a significant degree of judgement or estimation:
Fair value measurement on business combination

The amount of goodwill initially recognised as a result of a business combination is dependent on the
allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. The
determination of the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities is to a considerable extent based
upon management’s judgement, and estimates and assumptions made. ' ‘

Allocation of the purchase price affects the results of the Group as intangible assets are amortised over
their estimated useful lives, whereas goodwill, is not amortised. This could lead to differing
amortisation charges based on the allocation to indefinite and finite lived intangible assets.

On acquisition of a business, the identifiable intangible assets may include customer contracts, customer .
relationships and preferential supply contracts. The fair value of these assets is determined by
discounting estimated future net cash flows generated by the asset. The use of different estimates and”
assumptions for the expectations of future cash flows and the discount rate would change the valuation
of these intangible assets. o .

The carrying amount of intangibles is disclosed in Note 10.
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28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Taxation

Management is required to estimate the tax payable in each of the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates. This involves estimating the actual current tax charge or credit together with assessing
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.
These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which may be included on the consolidated
balance sheet of the Group. Management have performed an assessment as to the extent to which future
taxable profits will allow the deferred asset to be recovered. The calculation of the Group’s total tax
charge necessarily involves a significant degree of estimation in respect of certain items whose tax
treatment cannot be finally determined until resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority,
or, as appropriate, through a formal legal process. ‘

The Group has, from time to time, contingent tax liabilities arising from trading and corporate
transactions in the countries in which it operates. After appropriate consideration, management makes
provision for these liabilities based on the probable level of economic loss that may be incurred and
which is reliably measurable. ‘

The breadth of the Group’s structure with operations in many geographic locations makes the use of
estimates and assumptions more challenging. The resolution of issues is not always within the control
of the Group and can be reliant upon the efficiency of the legal processes in the relevant jurisdictions in
which the Group operates, and as a result, issues can, and often do take many years to resolve.

Details of amounts recognised with regard to taxation are disclosed in Notes 8 and 13.
Post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of defined benefit post-employment schemes. Under IAS 19 Revised
Employee Benefits, management is required to estimate the present value of the future defined benefit
obligation of each of the defined benefit schemes. The costs and year end obligations under defined
benefit schemes are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuations involve making
numerous assumptions, including:

Future rate of increase in salaries;

Inflation rate projections;-and

Discount rate for scheme liabilities.

Expected rates of return on the scheme assets.

Details of post-retirement benefits are set out in Note 18.
Provisions

Provisions are recognised for the cost of remediation works where there is a legal or constructive
obligation for such work to be carried out. Where the estimated obligation arises upon initial recognition
of the related asset, the corresponding debit is treated as part of the cost of the related asset and

. depreciated over its estimated useful life. '

Other provisions are recognised in the year wher it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow
of funds resulting from past operations or events that can be reasonably estimated. The timing of

. recognition requires the application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which can be
subject to change.
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28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Provisions (continued)

Estimates of the amounts of provisions recognised are based on current legal and constructive
requirements, technology and price levels. Because actual outflows can differ from estimates due to
changes in laws, regulations, public expectations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place
many years in the future, the carrying amounts of provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to take
account of such changes.

The nature and amount of provisions included within the financial statements are detailed in Note 19.

Impairment reviews

IFRSs require management to test for impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite
lives, on an annual basis, and of tangible and intangible assets with finite lives if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

An impairmént test requires an assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets can be supported
by its recoverable amount. Management calculates the recoverable amount based on the net present
value of the future cash flows derived from the relevant assets, using cash flow projections which have
been discounted at an appropriate discount rate.

In calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions and estimates are
required to be made in respect of highly uncertain matters, including management’s expectations of:

Growth rates of various revenue streams;

Long term growth rates; : .

Future margins; o

The selection of an appropriately risk adjusted discount rate; and
The determination of terminal values.

Changing the assumptions selected by management, in particular the discount rate used in the present
value calculation, could significantly affect the Group’s impairment evaluation and results.

For the purpose of impairment testing (when required), to assess whether any impairment exists,
estimates are made of the future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual
disposal. Actual outcomes could vary significantly from such estimates of discounted future cash flows.
Factors such as changes in the planned use of buildings, plant or equipment, or closure of facilities, the
presence or absence of competition, lower than expected asset utilisation from events such as unplanned
outages, strikes and hurricanes, technical obsolescence or lower than anticipated sales of products with
capitalised intellectual property rights could result in shortened useful lives or impairment. Changes in
the discount rates used could also lead to impairments.

Useful economic lives of tangible assets

The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful
economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are re-
assessed annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect current estimates, based on
technological advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the physical condition of the
assets. See Note 9 for the carrying amount of the property plant and equipment, and Note 1 for the
useful economic lives for each class of assets.
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28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Impairment of receivables

The Group makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other receivables. When assessing
impairment of trade and other receivables, management considers factors including the current credit
rating of the debtor, the ageing profile of receivables and historical experience. See Note 15 for the net
carrying amount of the debtors and associated impairment provision.

Investments

The Group has adopted IFRS 11. The adoption of this standard required the reclassification of
investments previously classified as jointly controlled entities under IAS 31 - Interests in joint ventures,
as either “joint operations” (if the Group has rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, .
relating to an arrangement) or “joint ventures” (if the Group has rights only to the net assets of an
arrangement). The classification focuses on the rights and obligations of the arrangements, as well as
their legal form. Under the new standard, joint ventures are accounted for under the equity method while
joint operations are accounted for by recognizing the Group’s share of assets, liabilities, revenues and
expenses

The Group’s interests in joint arrangements which were classified as jointly controlled entities under
IAS 31 and have been reclassified as joint ventures under IFRS 11 and continue to be accounted for
using the equity method. The reclassification of these interests has had no impact on these consolidated
financial statements.

29. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO ADOPTED IFRS

As stated-in Note 1, these are the Group’s first consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance
with Adopted IFRSs. :

The accounting policies set out in Note 1 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2014, the comparative information presented in these financial statements for
2013 and in the preparation of an opening IFRS balance sheet at 1 January 2013 (the Group’s date of
transition).

In preparing its opening IFRS balance sheet, the Group has adjusted amounts reported previously in
financial statements prepared in accordance with its old basis of accounting (UK GAAP). An
explanation of how the transition from UK GAAP to Adopted IFRSs has affected the Group’s financial
position, financial performance and cash flows is set out in the following tables and the notes that
accompany the tables.

69



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2014

29. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO ADOPTED IFRS (continued)

Reconciliation of equity

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment...........ccocoveiriinreniinnnen
Intangible assets........cocoerivriririiieiieeiieecr s
Investments in equity-accounted investees........ccocvvieuriennen.
Other investments.........ccccoevurerienenens eeteerren e
Other financial assets.........ccoviviirininirininivsninnnsecne e
Deferred tax aSSets.........ovnerrerurerrssaresersserssenssosssessenrees

Total non-current assets
Current assets
Inventories....ccccceeveveeriecenens

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents............. eieaeaeaeeeeereseeeseaestnaraes
Total current assets........ceeererrereaesonns o tvereeseeneerararararararares
Total assets

Equity attributable to owners of the parent

Share €apital.......c..cccvevrirririnivrininener e
Retained eamings. .........cevevueerneecrivirerincrinesessnninnrsesares
Total shareholders' funds. .

Non-controlling interest...........cccovvirirriniiiniriecnien e
Total equity.
Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings.......... e
Trade and other payables........ccocoovimineiimiinieiniiiecns
Employee benefits.........ccc.ccooniiimnininiirininintnee e
PrOVISIONS....coveveieaieaicaertcanneceeamseseneesrssesstesssesessnsnans
Total non-current Habilities........cocvevvinricinisninneseniencnnes
Current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings..........coeveevvvvirenninnnns
Trade and other payables

Tax Payables......ciocmerieiiriorrirnerniiierrasieseeseseeesrsesnens
Total current Habilities.........covovviiciciccninn i
Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities
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1 January 2013
Effect of
transition
. to Adopted ‘ Adopted
Note UK GAAP IFRSs IFRSs
€m
151.9 - 151.9
a (19.6) 20.8 12
b 592.8 2.1 594.9
¢ 4.0 (4.0) -
c - 4.0 4.0
d 0.3 11.7 12.0
729.4 34.6 764.0
73.6 - 73.6
201.9 - 201.9
47.9 - - 479
3234 - 3234
1,052.8 34.6 1,087.4
ab.e 517.8 17.0 534.8
517.8 17.0 534.8
(3.1) - 3.1
514.7 17.0 531.7
67.2 - 672
226.6 - 226.6
de 34.0 15.8 498
3.4 - 34
331.2 15.8 347.0
394 - 394
b 163.2 1.8 165.0
4.3 - 4.3
206.9 1.8 208.7
538.1 17.6 555.7
1,052.8 34.6 1,087.4




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2014

29. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO ADOPTED IFRS (continued)

Non-current assets

~ Property, plant and equipment...... e, veee
Intangible assets........cooviiiiniriieini e
Investments in eqmty-acoountcd mvestees ......................... .
Other investments.................... reaesnagaennaeeeae e e e e ane e

Other financial assets...........
Trade and other receivables

Deferred tax @sSetS.....covvvvrrerererareraeacsessesesseesnssesiasessssrarse
Total non-current assets,

Current assets

Inventories....... rerererneereraretrneeeaseteteresarene s earetesesaebesteerrn
Trade and other receivables........cocooociiieiieveiecricnniniiinnns
Cash and cash equivalents....... Leteaereresereseaesenetenissebessbreras
Total current assets

Total assets..

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital........c.oovurrncimcieri s
Other reserves............... eerevererererronnaaeasseesesesnrarrentnaaes

Retained earnings..:.
Total shareholders' funds

Non-controlling interest........ccccovvuiririncrnrininsininsnnnnnns veenas
Total equity
Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings..........ccoceerernineniiennes
Trade and other payables.........ccovereraorererereererseerensiorencns
Employee benefits........coceciieieneiiunnoncceiisinnecees
ProOVISIONS. .ccceeieeeeereiere et eece e s s
Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings........coceeenverereruiuranaces
Trade and other payables i

Tax payables
Provisions.........eeerrveeierenincreninrenesesanes ereseresaeennane evrneree
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities.
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31 December 2013
Effect of .
transition
to Adopted  Adopted
Note UK GAAP . TIFRSs IFRSs
152.2 - 152.2
af - (23.9) 25.8 1.9
b 630.5 0.1 630.6
¢ 4.0 (4.0) -
- 4.0 4.0
443 - 44.3
d 0.1 12.4 12.5
807.2 38.3 845.5
76.1 - 76.1
185.4 - 185.4
48.7 - 48.7
310.2 - 310.2
1,1174 38.3 _1,155.7
a 22.7) 0.2) (22.9)
abef 523.1 233 546.4
500.4 23.1 523.5
(7.8) - (7.8)
492.6 23.1 515.7
105.9 - 105.9
143.2 - 143.2
de 36.0 152 512
8.7 - 8.7
293.8 ‘152 309.0
1.8 - 1.8
306.8 - 306.8
1.0 - 1.0
21.4 - 214
331.0 - 331.0
624.8 15.2 640.0
1,1174 38.3 1,155.7



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2014

29. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO ADOPTED IFRS (continued)

Notes to the reconciliation of equity

a)

b)

c)

d)

€)

Upon transition to Adopted IFRSs the Group’s negative goodwill, previouély recognised under
UK GAAP, was eliminated in the opening Statement of Financial Position. The subsequent
amortisation in 2013 was also reversed. The impact of the adjustment was an increase in equity
of €20.8 million as at the transition date.

Upon transition to Adopted IFRSs, INEOS Industries Limited’s investment in Fluxel S.A.S
was classified as an associate and equity accounted for from the date of initial investment. The
impact of the adjustment was an increase in equity of €2.1 million as at the transition date._

Upon transition to Adopted IFRSs, INEOS Industries Limited’s investment in Accsys
Technologies plc was reclassified as another financial asset. The reclassification has no impact

‘on equity.

Upon transition to Adopted IFRSs, the deferred tax asset related to the pension scheme liability
was recognised as a separate asset in the Statement of Financial Position. The reclassification
has no impact on equity. The amount also includes the tax effect of the reversal of the
amortisation of the negative goodwill.

Upon transition to Adopted IFRSs, the defined benefit obligation for post-retirement employee
benefits was adjusted relating to the treatment of past service costs. The impact of the
adjustment was an increase in equity of €0.1 million as at the transition date.

The group has acquired the ChloroToulenes business from Kerling plc in 2013. Upon tragisition
to Adopted IFRSs, book value accounting was applied for the common control transaction.

. The negative goodwill related with transaction was eliminated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014

29. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO ADOPTED IFRS (continued)-

Reconciliation of loss

2013
Effect of
_ transition
to Adopted  Adopted
Note UK GAAP IFRSs IFRSs
€m .
Revenue . 1,007.1 - 1,007.1
COSt Of SAIES....uuvrrreerrieieeree e rneereeere e nas g (925.5) 1.3 (924.2)
Gross profit , 81.6 1.3 82.9
DiSLIIDULION COSS.eeeurerirreeireireersirereersreaeersmieersesssueesessnne (36.8) - (36.8)
. Administrative expenses before exceptional items............... h (53.4) 2.8 (56.2)
Exceptional administrative €Xpenses........ccoeveeveeeeeesnninnnns (26.6) - (26.6)
Total administrative €Xpenses...........ceveeriiiveeeeeienueninnneen. (80.0) (2.8) (82.8)
TOtal EXPENSES..cccouveerrieeririiriiirieeininriie e e sseireesennaees (116.8) (2.8) (119.6)
Operating loss (35.2) (1.5) (36.7)
Share of profit of associates and joint ventures using the .
equity accounting method............c.coociiiiiiiinn i, i 58.8 0.1 58.9
Profit on disposal of businesses...........coccvvvuereeeriiniieininnenn. 0.7 - 0.7
Profit before net finance costs 24.3 (1.4) 22.9
F'margce INCOME....eeeiiiiiiiintiiiiiiecni et i 32 (0.3) 29
Finance costs................ reureeeteeneetanaeeseennnneaatrenreeraesssbaarae (21.9) - (21.9)
) (18.7) (0.3) T (19.0)
. 5.6 . (1.7) 3.9
j : (5.3)- 0.1 (5.2)
Profit/(loss) for the year. 0.3 (1.6) (1.3)
Attributable to:
Owners Of PArent..........eeeuvveiiiiiiiiiiiiinniinie e, 5.2 (1.6) 3.6
Non-controlling interest............ceueerrrerrrriiiiiinseiininnniieenien ’ 4.9) - 4.9
Loss for the year. 5 0.3 (1.6) 1.3

Notes to the reconciliation of loss

g) Part of the past service cost of employee benefits relating to the Group’s post-retirement health
care plan are unrecognised in Retained Earnings at the end of 2012 and are being deferred over
the vesting period under UK GAAP. Under IFRS these past service costs should be recognised
when the plan amendment is made. The impact of the adjustment is an increase in profit of €1.3
million. :

h) Upon transition to Adopted IFRSs, the Group’s negative goodwill amortisation charge in 2013
was reversed. The impact of the adjustment is a decrease in profit of €2.8 million.

i) Upon transition to Adopted IFRSs, INEOS Industries Limited’s investment in Fluxel S.A.S
was reclassified as an associate and equity account for it from the date the initial investment

was made.

j)  Adjustment (g) had a deferred tax impact of €0.5 million and adjustmeni (h) had a deferred tax
impact of €(0.6) million.

73




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2014 :

29. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO ADOPTED IFRS (continued)
Ekplanation of material adjustments to the Cash Flow Statement

There are no material differences between the cash flow statement presented under Adopted IFRSs and
the cash flow statement presented under UK GAAP.
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Section 3 - Company Financial Statements
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS INDUSTRIES
LIMITED

Report on the company financial statements

QOur opinion
In our opinion, INEOS Industries Limited’s company financial statements (the “financial statements”):

e give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2014;
¢  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice; and
"o have been prepared in accordance with the reqliirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within the Directors' Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual
Report™), comprise:

e the company balance sheet as at 31 December 2014;

e the company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements
is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice), including FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”.

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they
. have made assumptions and considered future events.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies
. Act 2006

In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Other matters on which we are required to report by
exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

¢ the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of
directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arlsmg from
thls responsibility.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS INDUSTRIES
LIMITED

Responsibilities for the ﬁnanc1al statements and the
audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities set out on page 7, the directors are
~respon51ble for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true
and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We
do not, in giving these opinions accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves

We conducted our audit in' accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of:

¢  whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;
the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available
evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures-in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we
. consider necessary to provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions, We obtain audit evidence
through testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both. -

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is

" apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us
in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Other matter

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of INEOS Industnes Limited for the
year ended 31 December 2014. *

Steve Denison (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Newcastle upon Tyne '

20 November 2015
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2014

Fixed assets

Investments................... etteeereererteeneeeentnnateanaaeannnaaaennnsternseeeenneeerrnnnee

Total fixed assets

Current assets

DIEBIOTS. ..o eeeieetreeee e s ereiraresneeeseararnnnsasnsaeaenasasnnsnraraaseesnannsnnnn

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Net current liabilities.

Total assets less current liabilities

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year.......cccceceeeeene

Net assets/ liabilities.

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital...........ccccervvvmiiiniieiiiiiiinccis e

Profit and loss account
Total shareholders' funds/ (deficit)

Note 2014 2013
€m

4 9.4 9.4

9.4 9.4
5 (8.3) (1.0)
(8.3) (1.0)

1.1 8.4
6 (1.0) (8.6)
0.1 (0.2)

7 - .
8 0.1 (0.2)
0.1 0.2

The notes on pages 80 to 84 are an integral part of these Company financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 78 to 84 were approved by the Board of Directors on 20 November

2015 and signed on its behalf by:

Director
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS INDUSTRIES
LIMITED -

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2014
Total share-
Called up  Profit and holders'
: Share. loss (deficit)/
Note Capital account funds
€m ‘
Balance at 1 January 2013 - - -
Loss for the Year.......ccoovvercivininreinirencnincieennenaen 8 ’ - (0.2) 0.2) -
Balance at 31 December 201 , - (0.2) (0.2)
Profit for the year.........c.ccoevviimniniiiiiieininninienenns . 8 - 43 43
Transactions with owners, recorded directly in
equity: .
Dividend......o.occoreimiemiiniiin et 8 - . - ~ (4.0) 4.0)
Balance at 31 December 2014 - 0.1 0.1

The notes on pages 80 to 84 are an integral part of these Company financial statements.

79



NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Overview

- INEOS Industries Limited (the “Company”) is a private company linﬁted by shares incorporated and
domiciled in the UK The registered office address is Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire SO43
7FG.

Basis of Accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards ona gomg
concern basis and under the historical cost accounting rules.

Under section s408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its
own profit and loss account.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework (“FRS 101”).

In the transition to FRS 101, the Company has applied IFRS 1 whilst ensuring that its assets and liabilities are
measured in compliance with FRS 101. An explanation of how the transition to FRS 101 has affected the
reported financial position, financial performance and cash flows of the Company is provided in Note 12.

In these financial statements, the Company has early adopted FRS 101. -

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respéct of
the following disclosures: .

a Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

comparative year reconciliations for share capital;

disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;
disclosures in respect of capital management;

financial instrument disclosures as required by IFRS 7.

the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs; and

disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherw1se stated, been applied consxstently in these
Company financial statements.

Measurement convention
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.
" Functional and presentation currency

These Group financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the functional currency of the majority of
operations. The Group primarily generates income, incurs expenditure and has the majority of its assets and
liabilities denominated in Euros. The exchange rate as at 31 December 2014 was €1:$0.8220 and €1 £1 2791.
All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest €1,000,000.

80 -



NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

""Classification of financial instruments issued by the Company

Following the adoption of IAS 32, financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to
the extent that they mieet the following two conditions:

a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or
to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the Company; and

b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging a fixed amount of
cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where
the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these
financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to
those shares. . )

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue.. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the
. effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Trade and other creditors

Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. :

Cash at bank'and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.

Interest-bearing borrowings .

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

2. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

There were no employees with contracts of employment in the name of the Company.’

3. DIRECTORS’ RENUMERATION

None of the directors received any fees or remuneration for services as a director of the Company during the
financial year.

4. INVESTMENTS

The subsidiary and undertakings of the Company at 31 December and the percentage of equity share capital
held are set out below. :

Country of Class of Ownership
incorporation  shares held 2014 2013
INEOS Industries Holdings Limited..............c.coovrverrvernon. UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Associated
Joint- under-
Subsidiaries ventures takings Total
: €m

At 1 January 2013.....coooiieirierenirrereen e 9.4 - - - 94
Share of profits retained ..........ccoevviiviiiniininriniene - - - -
At 31 December 2013 9.4 - - 9.4
Share of profits retained ..........cceerviiiiicciinniini s : - ' - - -
" Share of other comprehensive income......c.veveivvceirrcnninnn - - - -
AdGIHONS. ....evereeiereeeeieiciteaeseieeesaeaerereessiroeeseseneasennnnnaes - - - -
At 31 December 2014 9.4 - - 9.4

5. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2014 2013
€m
Amounts owed to related parties.............. seesesreerssassnsiunsrnsernrrarenssrreenateanrassaseesesssssssrsstan 8.3 -
Accruals and deferred MICOMIE. ... uuuviurririiiiiirerieeiieieeiereieeereeeeeesessesse s eaessesaeeaeenessesaesaesas - 1.0
8.3 1.0
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014

6. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

2014 2013

€m
Amounts awed to related parties.............eceveneci reresieseaesre et rs e e sbba st e e s arans 1.0 -
Accruals and deferred MCOME.......ccoimviiiiviiiiiiniiriiirciii et arsseba s sae s - _ 8.6
‘ 1.0 8.6
7. CAPITAL AND RESERVES
2014 2013
€m
Fully paid .
197,500 (2013: 197.500) ordinary shares of £0.00001 each..........cccoerierinririvrnricinennn. - -
8. PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
2014 2013
€m
At 1 JANUALY....oooeireiiiieiiiincenineesreessirsessssssrssrssrnessransss s nresrsssssssssssasnssns ................... 0.2) -
Profit/ (loss) for the year.........ccouiiiiiic s 43 {0.2)
Dividend Paid.......ccoceereereeeieieritceceen et a et e e B {4.0) -
At 31 December : \ 0.1 (0.2)

The directors of the Company have proposed and paid a dividend of €4 million (20.19 per share) during the
year (2013: €nil). . . :

9. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The immediate and ultimate parent undertaking at 31 December 2014 was INEOS AG, a company registered
in Switzerland.

* The directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe to be the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majority shareholding
in INEOS AG.

The only group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INEOS Industries
Limited. '

10. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

No significant subsequent events have occurred after the balance sheet date.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2014
11. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Impairment of debtors

The Company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other debtors. When assessing
impairment of trade and other debtors, management considers factors including the current credit rating of the
debtor, the ageing profile of debtors and historical experience.

12. EXPLANATION OF TRANSITION TO FRS 101
As stated in Note 1, these are the Company’s first financial statements prepared in accordance with FRS 101.

The accounting policies set out in Note 1 have been applied in preparing the financial statements for the year
ended 2014, the comparative information presented in these financial statements for the year ended 2013 and
in the preparation of an opening FRS 101 balance sheet at 1 January 2013 (the Company’s date of transition).

In preparing its FRS 101 balance sheet and statement of changes in equity, the Company made no adjustments
to amounts reported previously. Hence no reconciliation as required by IFRS 1 have been disclosed.
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